Saint Petersburg State University

**Kushnov Ivan Denisovich** 

Master thesis

## CRYOCONITE AS A STORAGE AND SOURCE OF POLLUTANTS IN THE HIGH-ALTITUDE AREAS OF THE CENTRAL CAUCASUS

Master program BM.5710.

«Cold Region Environmental Landscapes Integrated Science»

Scientific supervisor: Prof. Dr. Evgeny V. ABAKUMOV Reviewer: Dr. Evgeny D. LODYGIN

Saint Petersburg 2022

# Contents

Abstract	3
Аннотация	4
1. Introduction	6
2. State of the art	.11
3. Materials and methods	.12
3.1. Description of study area	.12
3.2. Sampling strategy	.14
3.3. Laboratory analyses	.21
3.4. Pollution indices	.24
3.5 Statistical analysis	.26
4. Results	.27
4.1. Basic physicochemical features	.28
4.2. Particle-size distribution	.30
4.3. Micromorphological features	.34
4.4. Trace elements concentration	.41
4.5. Pollution indices	.44
4.6. PAHs content, composition, sources and potential toxicity	.49
5. Discussion	.54
6. Conclusion	.65
Acknowledgements	.66
References	.66

# CRYOCONITE AS A STORAGE AND SOURCE OF POLLUTANTS IN THE HIGH-ALTITUDE AREAS OF THE CENTRAL CAUCASUS

#### Ivan Kushnov

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Evgeny Abakumov, Department of Applied Ecology, Saint Petersburg State University, Saint Petersburg, Russia

Reviewer: Dr. Evgeny Lodygin, Institute of Biology, Komi Scientific Centre, Ural Division, Russian Academy of Sciences, Syktyvkar, Russia

#### Abstract

Global environmental change has become one of the top priorities in recent international studies. One of its consequences is rapid deglaciation which is often associated with formation of dark-colored supraglacial sediments, cryoconites. They may considerably affect vulnerable mountain ecosystems through changing their geochemical properties as well as play role in formation and development of primary soils after retreat of glacier. Long-distant transfer as well as local anthropogenic pressure cause pollution of high-mountain regions where cryoconite play crucial role due to their ability to accumulate and further transfer various pollutants such as trace elements and polyarenes to local ecosystems which may pose risk to local wildlife and population. Study of geochemical, physical and micromorhological features of cryoconites and glacial sediments as well as local soils is crucial to understand cryoconite's properties and its impact on mountain ecosystems under conditions of rapid deglaciation. For this research different types of materials such as cryoconites, moraines, mudflows, soil-like bodies and soils (Molic Leptosols, Leptic Umbrisols and Chernozems) have been sampled at the Baksan and Khulamo-Bezengi gorges with purpose to study their physicochemical, geochemical and micromorphological features. In order to access their pollution, concentrations of trace elements (Cu, Pb, Zn, Ni, Cd) and polyarenes (from the USDA top-priority list) have been measured. Pollution indices such as geoaccumulation index, contamination factor, degree of contamination and modified degree of contamination have been calculated to evaluate levels of pollution by trace elements. The data obtained indicates mostly neutral pH values in studied samples with some exceptions in Leptosols/Umbrisols in terms of exchangeable acidity (acidic level) due to organic matter accumulation. High values of organic carbon (up to 7.54%) and basal respiration (up to 48.40 mg CO<sub>2</sub>/100 g per day) in cryoconites and top horizons of local soils indicates that cryoconites promote development of microbial communities in local soils via transfer of organic carbon downstream. Sand particles are prevailed in cryoconites and Leptosols/Umbrisols due to their low rate of development and local source of transfer. Quartz, mica and feldspar are prevailed in micromorphological structure of cryoconites and Leptosols/Umbrisols indicating similar source of material. Source of pollutants is mixed indicating both local and distant input. The highest content among polyarenes was identified for NAP (84 ng/g), sum of concentrations of all polyarenes are higher than maximum permissible concentration. High content of Zn (up to 89.30 mg/kg), Pb (30.20 mg/kg) and Cu (40.70 mg/kg) was found in cryoconites as well as in local soils, predominantly top horizons, due to mixed input of pollutants, both long-distant transfer and local anthropogenic activities. Pollution indices are in some cases higher in cryoconites than in Leptosols and Umbrisols, among them indices are mostly the highest at top horizons indicating transfer of pollutants by aeolian processes and water streams from the glacier's surface to the valley. This study indicated role of supraglacial sediments in pollution and development of soils in the high-altitudinal area of the Central Caucasus region.

# КРИОКОНИТ КАК НАКОПИТЕЛЬ И ИСТОЧНИК ЗАГРЯЗНЯЮЩИХ ВЕЩЕСТВ В ВЫСОКОГОРНЫХ РАЙОНАХ ЦЕНТРАЛЬНОГО КАВКАЗА

Кушнов Иван Денисович

Научный руководитель: д. б. н., профессор, Абакумов Евгений Васильевич, Санкт-Петербургский государственный университет, кафедра Прикладной экологии, Санкт-Петербург, Россия

Рецензент: д. б. н., с. н. с., Лодыгин Евгений Дмитриевич, Институт Биологии КОМИ НЦ УрО РАН, Сыктывкар, Россия

#### Аннотация

Глобальное изменение окружающей среды стало одним из приоритетных направлений международных исследований в последнее время. Одним из его последствий является быстрое отступление ледника, которое часто связано с образованием темноокрашенных надледниковых отложений – криоконитов. Они могут существенно влиять на уязвимые горные экосистемы, изменяя их геохимические свойства, а также играть роль в формировании и развитии первичных почв после отступления ледника. Дальний перенос, а также местное антропогенное давление вызывают загрязнение высокогорных регионов, где криокониты играют значительную роль благодаря своей способности накапливать и далее переносить различные загрязнители, такие как микроэлементы и полиарены, в местные экосистемы, что может представлять риск для местной физических природы и населения. Изучение геохимических, дикой И микроморфологических особенностей криоконитов и ледниковых отложений, а также местных почв имеет решающее значение для понимания свойств криоконитов и их влияния на горные экосистемы в условиях быстрой дегляциации. Для данного исследования в Баксанском и Хуламо-Безенгийском ущельях были отобраны пробы различных типов материалов, таких как криокониты, морены, сели, почвоподобные тела и почвы (горные лесо-луговые почвы, горно-луговые субальпийские и черноземы), с целью определения их физико-химических, геохимических и микроморфологических особенностей. Для того, чтобы получить доступ к их загрязнению, были измерены концентрации микроэлементов (Cu, Pb, Zn, Ni, Cd) и полиаренов (из приоритетного списка USDA). Для оценки уровня загрязнения микроэлементами были рассчитаны такие индексы загрязнения, как индекс геоаккумуляции, коэффициент загрязнения, степень загрязнения и модифицированная степень загрязнения. Полученные данные свидетельствуют о преимущественно нейтральных значениях рН в исследованных образцах с некоторыми исключениями в энтисолях по обменной кислотности (кислый уровень) из-за накопления органического Высокие вещества. значения органического углерода (до 7,54%) и базального дыхания (до 48,40 мг СО<sub>2</sub>/100 г в день) в криоконитах и верхних горизонтах горных почв свидетельствуют о том, что криокониты способствуют развитию микробных сообществ в местных почвах путем переноса органического углерода вниз по течению. В криоконитах и горных почвах преобладают песчаные частицы из-за их низкой скорости развития и местного источника переноса. В микроморфологической структуре криоконитов и местных почв преобладают кварц, слюда и полевой шпат, что указывает на сходный источник материала. Источник загрязняющих веществ смешанный, что указывает как на местное, так и на удаленное поступление. Наибольшее содержание среди полиаренов выявлено для NAP (84 нг/г), сумма концентраций всех полиаренов превышает предельно допустимую концентрацию. Высокое содержание Zn (до 89,30 мг/кг), Pb (30,20 мг/кг) и Cu (40,70 мг/кг) обнаружено в

криоконитах, а также в горных почвах, преимущественно в верхних горизонтах, что объясняется смешанным поступлением загрязняющих веществ, как дальним переносом, так и местной антропогенной деятельностью. Индексы загрязнения в некоторых случаях выше в криоконитах, чем в горных почвах, а среди горных почв они, в основном, самые высокие в верхних горизонтах, что указывает на перенос загрязняющих веществ эоловыми процессами и водными потоками с поверхности ледника в долину. Данное исследование показывает роль надледниковых отложений в загрязнении и развитии почв в высокогорных районах Центрального Кавказа.

#### **1. Introduction**

The problem of global environmental change has become crucially important in recent decades in scientific studies. Climate change on the Earth driven by human activities is a proven fact (IPCC, 2021). Mountainous and high-latitude regions are considered as the most sensitive to both anthropogenic chemical pollution and global temperature rise. Approximately 10% of surface of the Earth is covered by glaciers and in mountainous regions this percentage is higher (Ren et al., 2019). In twenty-first century the melting of glaciers around the world has accelerated essentially and their mass continues to decrease (Hugonnet et al., 2021). Carbon-containing dust plays a significant role in climate system due to its ability to absorb solar radiation and accelerate melting of ice and snow cover. This dust originates from different combustion processes: natural are usually connected with forest fires while anthropogenic are mainly associated with solid fuel burning (60-80% of emissions in Asia and Africa) or diesel engines usage (70% of emissions in Europe) (Bond et al., 2013).

Despite the fact that carbon-containing dust is emitted to the atmosphere, it is deposited on terrestrial surfaces relatively fast and together with mineral and organic matter forms specific sediment which is called cryoconite. This term "cryoconite" comes from ancient Greek language meaning "cold dust" and it was introduced by famous Scandinavian researcher Nordenskjöld in 1870 when he discovered this substance in the internal part of Greenland (Nordenskjöld, 1875). Cryoconite refers to dark colored supraglacial sediments which can be found in polar regions and high mountains all over the world and can be described as a mixture of black carbon, the mineral and organic matter, which can be found on the surface of glaciers, both in so-called "cryoconite holes" or dispersed over the surface, including debris-covered glaciers (Adhikary et al., 2000; Cook et al., 2016; Di Mauro et al., 2017). According to their morphological features several types of supraglacial sediments may be defined, for example, "cryoconite mantle"

for thick and dry cryoconite and "hydroconite" for wet, watered sediments (Cook et al., 2016). Cryoconite formation is associated with both allochthonous and autochthonous input of material. In the first case carbon-enriched dust comes from deserts (Takeuchi and Li, 2008), volcanic eruptions (Kalińska-Nartiša et al., 2017) or various anthropogenic activities, for example, biomass burning (Li et al., 2019b) while in the second case material usually comes from local moraines, ice deformation or adjacent slopes due to aeolian and fluvial processes (Porter et al., 2010; Swift et al., 2018).

Organic matter of cryoconite includes residues of plants and animals, dead and alive microorganisms as well as additional biogenic and biotic materials (Takeuchi et al., 2010; Cook et al., 2016). Cryoconite plays a role of "oasis" for various viruses, algae, bacteria and fungi on relatively uninhabited surface of the glacier (Takeuchi et al., 2001; Edwards et al., 2013). These microbial communities affect local cycles of microelements and nutrients and, thus, influence ecosystems. "Cryoconite holes" are considered as storage of nutrients with their own biogeochemical cycle which means the ability not only to accumulate nutrients but also to transform them (Bagshaw et al., 2013) as well as cryoconite biofilms which are also responsible for high biological activity and act as a storage for nutrients (Smith et al., 2016). Earlier (Anesio et al., 2009) it was carried out that net primary production and respiration rates are similar between glaciers with cryoconite and freshwater samples which indicates the ability of sediments to become a carbon sink and influence the carbon cycle. Another research (Hodson et al., 2008) found communities of nitrifiers which may convert ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  to nitrates  $(NO_3^-)$  and, thus, affect the nitrogen cycle. Furthermore, ice and snow melting during warm period of the year may cause transfer of cryoconite material enriched with nutrients and carbon to downstream ecosystems via water streams which can and influence trophic relationships in them and also affect adjacent floodplains (Glazovskaya, 2005; Foreman et al., 2007; Ren et al., 2019).

Microbial communities and organic matter normally strongly influence the albedo of the glacier. Cryoconites contain dark colored decomposed algae material, humic substances and products of microorganisms' metabolic activities which mainly cause dark color of these sediments and may cause appearance of so-called "cryogenic foam" (Takeuchi, 2002; Rakusa-Suszczewski, 2015; Musilova et al., 2016; Polyakov et al., 2019). Also establishment of so-called cryoconite holes is connected with increased energy input due to presence of dark colored sediments which causes melting of ice and deepening of this hole (Wharton Jr et al., 1985). BC is another substance which significantly influence albedo reduction of the glacier. Chemical composition affects its light-absorbing properties. In study of Polyakov and Abakumov (2020a) two-dimensional analysis of humic acids (HAs) extracted from black carbon particles has been made. The data obtained indicated the accumulation of aromatic structures in the HAs composition, which indicates the condensation of macromolecules and leads to the stabilization of organic matter with the formation of molecules resistant to biodegradation.

Due to this ability to regulate the albedo, cryoconite sediments may essentially accelerate melting of glaciers which leads to their retreat. Numerous researches prove this statement (MacDonell et al., 2013; Di Mauro et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019; Humbert et al., 2020). In Antarctica presence of sediments significantly increases the availability of energy and the ablation is nine time greater than for clean ice surfaces (MacDonell et al., 2013). Furthermore, the reflectance of Greenland ice sheet drops by 25% during two-year time period when sediments appeared on the clean ice surface (Humbert et al., 2020). At Morteratsch Glacier the presence of cryoconite reduce ice spectral reflectance in visible wavelengths from 0.90 to 0.06 (Di Mauro et al., 2017). In Himalaya region, the presence of sediments also leads to an enhanced absorption of light energy, mostly at shorter wavelength (Gautam et al., 2013). The lowest mean reflectance of cryoconite among any impurities was observed on Tibetan Plateau, where black carbon as part of cryoconite played the highest role in light absorption (Li et al., 2019). Moreover, it was investigated that the spread of cryoconite could be associated with the collapse of cryoconite holes caused by cloudy, warm and windy weather conditions (Takeuchi et al., 2018). In this situation of glaciers retreat it is important to point that cryoconites may play an important role in establishment of new microbial community on previously inaccessible territory, covered by glacier, due to broad metabolic possibilities of microbial assemblages in these sediments and relatively similar set of microorganisms in cryoconite and adjacent soils (Wharton Jr et al., 1985; Kaštovská et al., 2005; Poniechka et al., 2020).

Another important part of cryoconite is mineral particles. Usually it consists of silt sized particles (Hodson et al., 2008; Cook et al., 2016), however, it varies because of different sources and rate of weathering. Microorganisms use minerals as a source of nutrients for developing of their communities (Wientjes et al., 2011). Due to this fact, mineralogical composition of cryoconite may affect biological activity on the glacier surface, biomass of microbes and difference in their species (Nagatsuka et al., 2014). It was also reported that communities of microorganisms may change because of different grain size in supraglacial sediments and bacteria diversity is higher in cryoconite with small-sized grains (Uetake et al., 2019). This indicates microbial sensitivity to granulometric and micromorphological characteristics because particle size influences

cation exchange capacity and, thus, absorption of nutrients by minerals from soil solution. However, clay particles also act as a storage of nutrients for microbial communities according to their composition which varies between glaciers (Tazaki et al., 1994). Moreover, source and amount of mineral matter influence darkening of glacier surface because of establishments of different microbial communities. Mineral particles may be transferred on the long distances, for instance, the main sources of mineral dust in North American Arctic are Asian deserts (VanCuren and Cahill, 2002). Observed environmental change (IPCC, 2021) may influence atmospheric transport of mineral particles and change their current sources. Furthermore, retreating of glaciers may increase aeolian transport of fine dust from adjacent proglacial floodplains to glacier surface (Bullard and Austin, 2011). Also rapid deglaciation will result in higher transfer of cryoconite mineral matter to downstream ecosystems and affect their sedimentation processes as well as amount of available nutrients.

The interrelations between cryoconite, glacial environment, and the atmosphere are important to study regional and global pollution trends. Mountainous and polar regions are especially sensitive to atmospheric pollution due to cold condensation or "grasshopper effect" which promotes deposition of various pollutants on the terrestrial surface (Fernandez et al., 2021). Cryoconite sediments can store natural and anthropogenic pollutants for several years up to several decades (Lokas et al., 2014). Recent research indicates that cryoconite can accumulate radioactive isotopes and specific elements with unprecedented efficiency (Baccolo et al., 2017; Lokas et al., 2019). Trace metals is another well-known group of harmful contaminants which may be found in high concentration in cold regions. Study of Polyakov et al. (2020) revealed that cryoconites accumulate trace elements which appeared due to both weathering of volcanic rocks and erosion of contaminated soils near polar stations. In the Arctic content of trace elements in cryoconites was measured at Spitsbergen island and it was higher than the natural background (Lokas et al., 2016). In high mountain ecosystems measurements of trace elements were conducted at Tibetan plateau and Himalayan region (Singh et al., 2017; Jiao et al., 2021) where the concentrations were higher than in the Arctic, which is probably connected with presence of highly industrialized Asian countries nearby. These researches also indicate importance of source and its remoteness from the area of cryoconite sedimentation. Despite the fact that Cu, Zn and Ni play a crucial role in functioning of plants, animals and humans, they may be poison and cause chronic diseases in case of accumulation in the organisms (Sharma and Agrawal, 2005). These elements as well as non-essential such as Pb and Cd have an ability to transfer to

high trophic levels in ecosystems food web (Gall et al., 2015). Previous studies (Bai et al., 2018; Rehman et al., 2018) show that soil pollution with trace metals is associated with human health risk due to uptake of these elements with contaminated plants and direct contact. Local animals are also subject to these processes (Tian et al., 2020) and, thus, soil pollution with trace elements also possess risks to wildlife. Cryoconites in this case may be a source of these pollutants for downstream floodplains and soils due to transfer of them by aeolian processes and water streams in warm period (Glazovskaya, 2005).

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and other organic substances are considered as a ubiquitous group of contaminants in the environment. Their structure consists of atoms of carbon and hydrogen with different number of aromatic rings (Edwards, 1983). Generally, there are two main groups of PAHs defined by the number of aromatic rings: low molecular weight (LMW) and high molecular weight (HMW). Second group of these pollutants is more toxic for people and animals, more stable in environments and usually connected with anthropogenic activities (Mandal and Das, 2015). Short contact of humans with polyarenes may cause various symptoms such as skin rash, lachrymation and nausea while prolonged exposure could lead to chronic diseases due to mutagenic and cancerogenic properties of some PAHs (Bostrom et al., 2002; Famiyeh et al., 2021). Depending on the level of toxicity they are divided in groups: carcinogenic to humans (group 1), possibly carcinogenic (2A) and probably carcinogenic (2B) (IARC, 2010). Among these pollutants benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) is defined as extremely dangerous for human health and wildlife, and its content must necessarily be monitored (GN 2.1.7.2041-06, 2006). In current studies (Gao et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2021) pollution of the environment is usually estimated using benzo[a]pyrene-equivalent (BaP-EQ) where BaP acts as a reference component. Soils can store PAHs for a long time after deposition because of complexity of soil matrix and then polyarenes may be transferred to plants through uptake of them by roots (Sushkova et al., 2018; Abdel-Shafy and Mansour, 2016). In cold regions soils are especially sensitive to PAHs contamination because of reduced volatilization and biodegradation while the input of pollutants is increased due to "grasshopper effect" (Wang et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2008). Higher concentrations of different PAHs in comparison with background was found in different parts of the world: European mountains (Ribes et al., 2003; Quiroz et al., 2010), highaltitudinal parts of Asia (Zhou et al., 2018; Riaz et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019) and North America (Abdul Hussain et al., 2019). In mountain ecosystems cryoconites also considered as a sink and source of PAHs. Current researches indicate that concentrations of polyarenes in these supraglacial sediments exceed threshold values in Antarctica (Abakumov et al., 2021) and on Tibetan plateau (Li et al., 2017). These high concentrations may pose a risk for environment and local population in mountainous region as it was found that glaciers store various pollutants on their surface which can affect downstream territories (Morselli et al., 2014).

#### 2. State of the art

Caucasus is a famous mountain range which is located in the Eurasian continent and stretches from the Black Sea on the west to the Caspian Sea on the east. Main Caucasus range generally is divided into 3 parts: Western, Central and Eastern. Central Caucasus is the highest part of Caucasus range. Here the highest peaks of Russia and Europe are located such as Mt. Elbrus (5642 m) and Mt. Kazbek (5033 m) as well as lots of glaciers (Gvozdetsky, 1963). In general, Caucasus mountain region has around 1713 glaciers, their total area of 1121 km<sup>2</sup> which constitute 0.15% of all glaciated area of the Earth (Kutuzov et al., 2015b; Radic et al., 2014). Glaciers of the Central Caucasus play a major role both in cooling the adjacent areas (Kuban and Black Sea regions), which is associated with the phenomenon of mountain inversion, as well as the accumulation and subsequent release of cold to the foothill areas (Gvozdetsky, 1963). These glaciers are rapidly retreating: they lost around 5% of total area from 1987 to 2010 (Shahgedanova et al., 2014). Another study (Tielidze et al., 2022) points that in 21<sup>st</sup> century Caucasian glaciers lost around 23% of their total area. Moreover, the glaciers of the Caucasus act as one of the food sources for local rivers. The rivers of the Caucasus have a mixed type of feeding with a significant contribution from glaciers, which has recently decreased due to rapid deglaciation during last 50 years. From the other hand, the role of moraines and mudflows has increased (Rets et al., 2020), which enter the river together with runoff from agricultural fields and lead to siltation of the river bed, which in turn can lead to unpredictable floods and droughts. Rapid deglaciation may cause not only environmental problems but also affect engineering stability of buildings and infrastructure due to fact that the number of mudslides and other dangerous phenomena in the Central Caucasus has risen essentially over the last twenty years which is linked with retreating of the glaciers (Marchenko et al. 2017; Aleinikova et al., 2020). Cryoconites influence melting rate and micromorphological researches might be helpful to estimate the hypothetical area of transferred material accumulation in the zone of deglaciation and possible availability of nutrients for establishment of new environment. In this region only one micromorphological study has been conducted (Zawierucha et al., 2019) which showed presence of grey silty minerals which were affected by chemical weathering. Due to this grains with smooth edges were predominant. Also this research indicated the importance of local geomorphology and geology, and rate of weathering in forming of minerals. Central Caucasus in these terms is diverse region which indicates the need for further studies. Moreover, due to rapid glaciers retreat in last 20 years' frequency of hazardous events such as mudflows have increased considerably (Aleinikova et al., 2020) and defining micromorphological features may be useful in order to estimate hypothetical area of material drift. It is also important to study relationship between cryoconite sediments and soils in this region because Central Caucasus as well as other mountain regions is especially sensitive to any interventions in vulnerable ecosystems (Moshenko et al., 2020). Active construction of new touristic facilities in this region and work of already existing ones' (Voskova et al., 2021) results in contamination of local environment and may act as a source of local material for formation of cryoconites. It is especially important because agriculture plays a huge role in economy and lifestyle of local population: around 50% of people here live in rural area and industrial agricultural clusters are well-developed (Zaburaeva et al., 2021). However, no researches have been carried out in order to estimate influence of global and local processes on vulnerable ecosystem of this region in general and on local soils in particular. Only Vecchiato et al. (2020) have measured PAHs concentration in ice cores in order to assess their fluctuations in 20-th century. Thus, the main goal of this study was to investigate the features of cryoconites and their role as accumulators and sources of pollutants on the surface of glaciers in the Central Caucasus mountainous area.

To achieve this aim, some additional goals have been set:

- to investigate basic physicochemical features of cryoconites and local soils;
- to study micromorphological structure of supraglacial sediments;
- to define concentrations of selected PAHs, identify their sources and level of pollution;
- to determine amount of trace elements in cryoconites and local soils;
- to evaluate the level of trace elements pollution using several indices;
- to compare study results from different study sites.

#### 3. Materials and methods

#### 3.1. Description of study area

The area of research is located in the Central Caucasus region, Kabardino-Balkarian Republic, Russia (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Sampling locations of studied materials.

One part of this region is located on the plain, and the second part is mountainous. Here the highest peaks of Russia and Caucasus range are situated such as Mt. Elbrus (5642 m), Mt. Dykhtau (5204 m) and Shkhara (5068 m) as well as hundreds of glaciers. Samples were taken from 2 areas: Elbrus district and Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge. Cryoconites were sampled from glaciers' surfaces, cracks and holes; soils were sampled in the downstream gorges. Total Elbrus district area is 1850 km<sup>2</sup> and it is mountainous district of Kabardino-Balkarian Republic, mostly located in high-altitudinal zone. Elbrus glacial complex includes 23 glaciers which covers 112 km<sup>2</sup> (Rybak et al., 2021). Many large glaciers such as Irik, Terskol and Kukurtly are included in this glacial complex. First research area is represented by two glaciers: Garabashi and Skhelda (Fig. 1). Garabashi Glacier is lying on the southeastern slope of Mt. Elbrus, it covers 5 km<sup>2</sup> with the highest point 4,900 m and the lowest point at 3,330 m. Baksan Gorge is adjacent to Mt. Elbrus and in southeastern direction of it Skhelda Glacier is situated. Skhelda Glacier is located on the Russian-Georgian border and its area is about 8 km<sup>2</sup>. Glacier is covered with moraines and debris with thickness from 50 to 100 cm. Garabashi Glacier feeds the Baksan river and Skhelda Glacier feeds the Skhelda river. The average annual temperature in mountainous part of Elbrus district in summer period is 8.05 °C and in high-mountainous part is 2.5 °C (Tashilova et al. 2019). Typical precipitation ranges from 660 to 760 mm/year. Local geology is represented by calcareous sandstones and clays, carbonate clays and limestone deposits (Pochvy Kabardino-Balkarskoi ASSR, 1984).

Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge is located in Cherek district of Kabardino-Balkarian Republic which is also mostly situated in high-altitudinal zone. The Bezengi Wall here consist of various peaks some of them are higher than 5 km such as Mt. Skhara (5193 m) and Jangi-Tau (5085 m). Around 150 glaciers are located in this part of Caucasus with the total area 290 km<sup>2</sup>. Bezengi Glacier is the biggest glacier in the Caucasus mountain range with the length 17,6 km. From the middle of 19<sup>th</sup> century to 2011 it has retreated at 2,5 km (Bushueva, 2013). It feeds the Cherek Khulam river. The average annual temperature in lower part of Cherek district is 11.9 °C and in high-mountainous part is 4.7°C (Gazaev and Bozieva, 2020), average precipitation ranges from 900 to 1400 mm/year, in some years up to 2373 mm (Gazaev et al., 2018). The parent material consists of carbonate rocks, sandstones, granites and glacial deposits near glaciers.

Central Caucasus was an active volcanic region during three time periods: Late Miocene (around 8.5 Ma), Pliocene – Quaternary (4.7 - 1.9 Ma), Late Quaternary (<1 Ma) (Kaigorodova et al., 2020).

#### **3.2. Sampling strategy**

At the Baksan Gorge samples of cryoconite sediments have been taken from Garabashi Glacier (Mt. Elbrus), Skhelda Glacier (Fig. 2) and mudflow during field expedition in September 2020 (by E. Abakumov, R. Tembotov and V. Polyakov) as well as some soil samples. Separately, at each sampling plot micro monoliths 2x2x1 cm (height x length x thickness) have been taken in order to study micromorphological features.



Fig. 2. Sampling plots on Skhelda Glacier (a), mudflow area (b), on the Garabashi Glacier.

Cryoconites from the Skhelda Glacier were sampled from the slopes which are mostly not covered by moraine. Also, cryoconite-derived material (alluvium) was sampled at this investigation area. From the Garabashi glacier cryoconite material was sampled from the glacier holes and moraine. Cryoconite sediments at Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge were sampled from the surface, cracks and cryoconite holes of Bezengi Glacier as well as from moraine deposits and mudflow-transferred sediments nearby (Figure 3) during field expedition in July 2021.



Figure 3. Sampling plots at the Bezengi Glacier crack and surface (a), moraine (b), cryoconite holes (c) and soil-like material nearby the glacier (d).

These sediments were affected by soil forming processes with the appearance of vegetation in some parts. Fresh mudflow samples additionally have been taken at the Baksan Gorge, around 15 km from the Mt. Elbrus, in 2 points, in the end of mudslide and on its way.

Soils have been sampled in the Baksan Gorge and in the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge, in vicinity to the studied glaciers in order to compare their physicochemical features and pollution levels. These soils were defined as Molic Leptosols and Leptic Umbrisols (WRB, 2015). Individual soil samples have been taken in various sampling points from the depth of each soil horizon up to 26 cm in Baksan Gorge and up to 50 cm in Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge. Under this depth solum was underlayed by solid rocks. Soil profiles of presented on Fig. 4.



Figure 4. Sampling plots of Leptic Umbrisols (a) and Molic Leptosols at the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge (b) and at the Baksan Gorge (c, made by E. Abakumov).

Another group of soils has been sampled at the low-altitudinal, valley part of Kabardino-Balkarian Republic, from 70 to 90 km to the north-east from the Mt. Elbrus in order to compare their features with mountain soils and estimate their safety for agriculture.



Figure 5. Soil profiles of studied Chernozems.

These soils were defined as Chernozems (WRB, 2015), some of them (Bez12, Bez13) are used for growing corn. Individual soil samples have been taken from 3 soil sections in the same way up to depth of 100 cm. Soil profiles of Chernozems are presented on Fig. 5.

Detailed description of studied materials is presented in Table 1, Table 2 and Table 3.

Table 1. Description of sediments and soils, sampled at Baksan Gorge during expedition in September 2020 (by E. Abakumov, R. Tembotov and V. Polyakov).

Sample	Description of study site	Depth	Horizon	Soil type	Description of the sample	Elevation	Geographical Coordinates	Sampling date
KB 1		Surface	Surface of the glacier	-	The cryoconite from the slope of the glacier			
KB 2	Skhelda glacier	Surface	Surface of the glacier	-	Cryoconite derived material	2.385 m	N 43° 11'27'' E 42° 38'45''	15.09.20
KB 3		Surface	Surface of the glacier	-	The cryoconite from the slope of the glacier			
KB4	The right bank of the Baksan	0–8 cm	Oe		Slightly decomposed plant waste, dry, dark- brown, with roots (medium amount) and pebbles, cloddy-lumpy structure Roots (medium			
	river, in vicinity of the settlement Neutrino	8–18 cm 18–25 cm	Ah A/C	Molic Leptos ol	amount) and pebbles, brown, lumpy-cloddy structure A lot of pebbles and few roots, brown, cloddy	1.816 m	N 43° 17' 21.0'' E 42° 42'57.9''	
	The left bank of the Baksan	0–11 cm	Ah		Roots and round- sharp rocks, grey, lumpy structure			16.09.20
KB5	river, in vicinity of the	11–18 cm	A/C	Leptic Umbris ol	Roots and round- sharp rocks, grey- fawn,	1.466 m	N 43° 19' 44.0'' E 42° 48'08.8''	
	settlement Upper Balkania	18–26 cm	Ck		Rocks, yellow- fawn, dry, lumpy structure			
KB6	Elbrus district, in the vicinity	0–21 cm	Ah	Cherno zem	Roots and pebbles (medium amount), dark- grey, dry	750 m	N 43° 33' 21.7'' E 43° 13'40.1''	

	of Kiendele	21_58			Roots and			
	settlement	21–30 cm	Bk		pebbles (few),			
		CIII			grey, dry			
	The right				Soil-like body			
	bank of	Surface	Ch		formed by			
	Baksan	Suitace	Cli	-	mudflow, with			
	river,				vegetation			
VD7	between the				Soil like body	1 400 m	N 43° 19'19.2''	
KD /	settlement				formed by	1.490 III	E 42° 47'15.1"	
	Upper	Cumbooo	C		formed by			
	Baksan and	Surface	C	-	mudilow,			
	Tyrnyauz				without any			
	city				vegetation			
			Surface		The cryoconite			
KB8		Surface	of the	-	from the ice			
			glacier		crack			
KBO	Garabashi		Cryocon		The cryoconite		N 43° 18'18''	
KD7	glacier	Surface	ite over	-	underlain by ice	3.860 m	$F 42^{\circ} 27' 49''$	17.09.20
	Sidelei		ice					
KB10					Moraine			
KD10		Surface	C	-	deposits on the			
					mountain			

Table 2. Description of sediments and soils, sampled at Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge during expedition in July 2021.

Sample	Description of the study site	Soil type	Elevation	Depth	Horizon	Description of the sample	Coordinates	Sampling date
Bez1.1	.1 - 800 m before the Bezengi Glacier. .2 -	-	2080 m	Surface	Ch	Soil-like body formed on the mudflow. With vegetation	N 43.109168	24.07.2022
Bez1.2		2080 III	Surface	С	Soil-like body formed on the mudflow. With vegetation	E 43.136583		
Bez2.1	Crack at the bottom part of the Bezengi Glacier	-	2150 m	10 cm	-	Cryoconite sediments	N 43.104701	24.07.2022
Bez2.2	Surface of the bottom part of the Bezengi Glacier	-	2150 m	Surface	-	Dispersed cryoconite sediments	E 43.129403	24.07.2022
Bez3.1	Crack at the upper part of the	-	2201 m	5 cm	-	Cryoconite sediments	N 43.104668 E 43.128708	24.07.2022

	Bezengi							
	Glacier							
	Surface of					5. 1		
	the upper			<i>a</i> .		Dispersed		
Bez3.2	part of the	-		Surface		cryoconite		
	Bezengi					sediments		
	Glacier							
	Upper part							
Bez4.1	of the	-	2186 m	Surface	С			
	Bezengi							
-	Glacier							
	Middle part						N. 42 1070 CO	
Bez4.2	of the	-	2166 m	Surface	С		N 43.10/868	24.07.2022
	Bezengi					Moraine	E 43.129286	
-	Glacier					deposits		
	Bottom part					1		
Bez4.3	of the	-	2148 m	Surface	С			
	Bezengi							
	Glacier						N 42 10C402	
Bez5	In the	-	2133 m	Surface	С		N 43.106403	24.07.2022
	Vicinity of						E 43.131700	
Bez6	the Bezengi	-	2143 m	Surface	С		N 43.105281	24.07.2022
	Small						E 43.130730	
	Sman							
	balaa an tha					Crave a smith	N 42 104646	
Bez7	noies on the	-	2182 m	5 cm	-	Cryoconite	N 43.104646	25.07.2022
	surface of					material	E 43.128//1	
	the Bezengi							
	Glacier							
	Big							
	cryoconite					Crave a smith	N 42 107525	
Bez8	note on the	-	2171 m	10 cm	-	Cryocomie	N 45.10/555	25.07.2022
	surface of					material	E 43.128733	
	Classier							
	Glacier					Don's anors		
						dansa lumpy		
	Ledge of			0.6 cm	00	nowdory		
	birch forest,			0-0 011	Ue	loomy roots		
	under					ioaniy, ioots		
	herbaceous-					Create medium.	-	
	grass					Grey, meanum		
	vegetation.			C 10		compacted,		
	Leveled			0-18	А	Tine-		
	relief.			cm		compacted,		
	Between	<b>.</b>				roots are	N. 42 1 4271 C	
Bez9	Bezengi	Leptic	1854 m			sparse.	N 43.143/16	25.07.2022
	village and	Umbrisol		10 40		Light brown,	E 42.1/8648	
	Bezengi			18–40	В	weakly		
	Alpine			cm		compacted,		
	Camp. The					roots are few.	{	
	right bank					Brown,		
	of the					slightly moist,		
	Cherek			40-50	~	medium		
	Khulam			cm	C	compacted,		
	river.					powdery-		
						lumpy, sandy		
						loam, medium		

						to coarse pebbles inclusions.		
				0–10 cm	Oe	Dark brown, moist, slightly compacted, fine-cloddy, medium- loamy, plenty of roots, few pebbles.		
Bez10	Subalpine cereal-grass meadow. Between Bezenghi village and Bezenghi Alpine Camp, close to an abandoned shepherd's	ubalpine real-grass neadow. Between Bezenghi Ilage and Bezenghi Alpine Camp, ose to an bandoned Molic	1612 m	10–30 cm	В	Greyish- brown, moist, medium compacted, cloddy- grained, medium loamy, few roots, medium to fine pebbles inclusions.	N 43.171266 E 43.231466	25.07.2022
	lodge. Left bank of the Cherek Khulam river.			30–40 cm	С	Brown with inclusions of grey chalky soil, moist, medium compacted, fine-cloddy, medium- loamy, few roots, many medium and coarse pebbles.		

Table 3. Description of soils and mudflow, sampled at the Baksan Gorge during expedition in July, 2021 (sampling date: 29.07.2021).

Sample	Description of the study site	Soil type	Elevation	Depth	Horizon	Description of the sample	Coordinates
Bez11.1 Bez11.2	Near the village of Elbrus. Right bank of the Baksan River.	-	- 1752 m	Surfac e Surfac e	-	Mudflow (descended on 27.07.2021), at the end of mudflow. Mudflow (descended on 27.07.2021), on the way of mudflow.	N 43.264413 E 42.655688

				0–25		Lightly	
				cm		compacted,	
						dark brown,	
						medium-	
					А	lumpy, heavy	
						loam, rare	
						inclusions of	
						pebbles, corn	
	Near the					roots.	
	village of			25-60	A/B	Gray-brown,	
	Zhanhoteko			cm		medium	
	. Middle					compacted,	
	Highlands.					medium to	NI 42 570040
Bez12	Left bank of	Chernozem	770 m			fine-clodded,	IN 45.572246
	the Baksan					medium-loam,	E 45.225525
	River. Soil					inclusions of	
	section					small amounts	
	under a corn					of pebbles and	
	field.					sand, rare	
						inclusions of	
						roots.	
				60–90	Bk	Dark gray,	
				cm		compacted,	
						fine lumpy,	
						medium-loam,	
						inclusions of	
				0.10		coarse pebbles.	
				0–18		Loose, dark	
				cm		gray, fine-	
	At the					grained,	
	entrance to				А	granular,	
	the Baksan					medium-loam,	
	Gorge, near					few inclusions	
	the town of					of corn roots,	
	Baksan, left			10.22	A /D	III01St.	
	Dalkson			10-52	A/D	Dense, gray,	N 12 617609
Bez13	Daksali Diyon A out	Chernozem	501 m	CIII		inclusions of	IN 43.047098
	Kiver. A cut					dead com	E 45.309480
	field					roots moist	
	Footbills of			22	Dl	Brown	
	the			100	DK	medium thick	
	Republic of			100 cm		medium to fina	
	Kabardino-					cloddy	
	Ralkaria					medium_	
	Duikaila.					loamy few	
						roots moist	
		1		1	1	roots, moist.	1

# **3.3.** Laboratory analyses

Sampled materials were transported to the department of applied ecology of Saint Petersburg State University in sealed bags by plane. At the laboratory conditions all samples were dried at the temperature 20 °C and then sieved through 1-mm sieve (except of samples for micromorphology). The pH was determined by pH-meter-millivoltmeter pH-150MA (Made in Belarus) in water and KCl solution with fine-earth:solution ratio 1:2.5. Total organic carbon (TOC) content was determined by dichromate oxidationtitration method (Tyurin method) with accordance to national Russian standard GOST 26213-91 (1993). Also, TOC content and nitrogen content were determined by CHN elemental analyzer (Elementar Analyse Systeme GmbH, Vario MAX, Italy). Basal respiration (microbiological activity) was measured in laboratory incubation experiment by measuring CO<sub>2</sub> in NaOH with titration of alkaline residue with 0.5M HCl after incubation of CO<sub>2</sub> for 10 days in plastic sealed containers (Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976). The particle-size distribution analysis was performed according to the Kachinsky "wet sedimentation" method in accordance with national Russian standard GOST 12536-2014 (2015). Thin sections for micromorphological study has been prepared using sampled micro monoliths. They have been dried in laboratory conditions and then saturated with resin. Prepared materials have been studied with Leica DM 750P polarization microscope (Leica Camera AG, Germany) in crossed Nicol prisms and transmitted light. During this research several features have been studied and described such as materials microfabric, geometrical features and size of particle distribution, presence and origin of organic matter, microstructure elements and spatial arrangements of microfabric according to commonly used method (Stoops and Eswaran, 1986; Stoops, 2003; Gagarina, 2004; Gerasimova et al., 2011).

In order to estimate pollution of studied materials by PAHs, concentrations of 15 high-priority polyarenes from the Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) list were measured. Information about studied PAHs is presented in Table 4.

PAH, CAS name (Abbreviation)	Molecula r Formula	Molecular weight (rings)	Carcinogenity level*
Naphthalene (NAP)	$C_{12}H_8$	128 (2)	2B
Acenaphthene (ANA)	$C_{12}H_{10}$	154 (3)	3
Fluorene (FLU)	$C_{13}H_{10}$	166 (3)	3
Phenanthrene (PHE)	$C_{14}H_{10}$	178 (3)	3
Anthracene (ANT)	$C_{14}H_{10}$	178 (3)	3
Fluoranthene (FLT)	$C_{16}H_{10}$	202 (4)	3
Pyrene (PYR)	$C_{16}H_{10}$	202 (4)	3
Benzanthracene (BaA)	$C_{18}H_{12}$	228 (4)	2B
Chrysene (CHR)	$C_{18}H_{12}$	228 (4)	2B

Table 4. Description of PAHs under study (according to Pandey et al., 1999).

Benz[ <i>e</i> ]acephenanthrylen e (BbF)	$C_{20}H_{12}$	252 (5)	2B			
Benzo[k]fluoranthene (BkF)	$C_{20}H_{12}$	252 (5)	2B			
Benzo[ <i>a</i> ]pyrene (BaP)	$C_{20}H_{12}$	252 (5)	1			
Dibenz[ <i>a</i> , <i>h</i> ]anthracene (DBA)	$C_{22}H_{14}$	278 (5)	2A			
Benzo[ <i>ghi</i> ]perylene (BPE)	$C_{22}H_{12}$	276 (6)	3			
Indeno[1,2,3- <i>cd</i> ]pyrene (IPY)	$C_{22}H_{12}$	276 (6)	2B			
* - 1 - Carcinogenic to humans; 2A - Probably carcinogenic to humans; 2B -						
Possibly carcinogenic to huma	ıns; 3 - Not cla	ssified as carcin	nogenic to human			

The PAHs content was defined by high-performance liquid chromatography which is generally accepted in Russia and in the world (PND, 2009). Extraction of PAHs from soil was performed using diethyl ether. 10 mL of diethyl ether was added to 1 g of prepared sample, after the solution was placed in an ultrasonic bath for 30 minutes. Then the extract was evaporated at 60°C until it was not completely dry. 1 mL of acetonitrile was added to the residue after full evaporation. The prepared extracts were chromatographed at the same day. The minimum measured concentrations of PAHs are as follows: NAP, FLT, PYR >20; ANA, FLU, PHE, BPE, IPY, BbF, BbA, DBA>6; CHR>3; BkF, BaP>1 ng/g (Lau et al., 2010). Accuracy for all measures at minimum concentrations are about ±40%.

Because PAHs can be formed not only during various technogenic processes but also can be produced by various natural processes, it is possible to use PAHs as markers of anthropogenic impact. One of the most common way to define the origin of polyarenes is to use different PAH diagnostic (isomer) ratios method (Khaustov and Redina et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2017; Soclo et al., 2000). In order to correctly select isomeric ratios and identify source of PAHs several papers have been studied and summarized in the Table 5 (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov).

Table 5. Selected diagnostic ratios of studied polyarenes and their sources (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov).

PAHs isomer ratios	Range of values	Possible sources of PAH	References
	< 0.10	Petroleum or Baseline source	(Yunker et al., 2002;
ANT / (ANT + PHE)	>0.10	Combustion	Wang et al., 2009; Tobiszewski and Namieśnik, 2012; Shamilishvili et al., 2016)
	< 0.40	Petroleum or Baseline source	(Mandalakis et al., 2002;
FLU / (FLU + PYR)	0.40-0.50	Combustion of liquid fuels	Yunker et al., 2002;
	>0.50	Combustion of solid fossil fuels	Fang et al., 2004;

			Ravindra et al., 2008; Shamilishvili et al., 2016)
	< 0.20	Petroleum or Baseline source	(Yunker et al., 2002;
BaA / (BaA + CHR)	0.20-0.35	Petroleum, combustion, baseline source	Tobiszewski and Namieśnik, 2012;
	>0.35	Combustion	Shamilishvili et al., 2016)
	>10	Petrogenic	(Budzinski et al., 1997;
PHE / ANT	<10	Pyrolytic	Khairy et al., 2009)
	<1.0	Petrogenic	(Budzinski et al., 1997;
FLU / PYK	>1.0	Pyrolytic	Khairy et al., 2009)
	< 0.60	Non-traffic	(Pandey et al., 1999;
BaP / BPE	>0.60	Traffic	Ravindra et al., 2008)
	< 0.30	Petroleum or Baseline source	(Heren a et al. 2004)
$\sum PyrPAHs^{*}/$	0.30-0.70	Petroleum, combustion, baseline source	(Hwang et al., 2004; Balmar et al., 2010)
∑ PAHs	>0.70	Predominantly combustion	Danner et al., 2019)
$\sum$ LMW PAHs <sup>b</sup> /	<1	Pyrogenic	(Soclo et al., 2000;
$\sum$ HMW PAHs <sup>c</sup>	>1	Petrogenic	Zhang et al., 2008)

Many studies are conducted by bringing the toxicity levels of various PAHs in relation to Benzo[a]pyrene because its effects and properties are well understood, using Benzo[a]pyrene equivalents (BaP – equivalents) of the toxicity of PAHs (Jung et al., 2010). This is also used in this study. BaP-equivalents also make it possible to compare pollution of studied materials with different standards, for instance, to Russian maximum permissible concentration (MPC) in soils, 0.02 mg/kg (Hygienic Norms, 2006).

Trace elements content was defined by flame and electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometric method according to the standard ISO 11047-1998 (ISO, 1998) at Atomic absorption spectrophotometer Kvant 2M (Moscow, Russia). The list of studied trace elements included Cu, Pb, Zn, Ni, Cd due to fact that they are the classified as the most dangerous for people and environment (GOST17.4.1.02-83, 2008) and are accumulated in black carbon and atmospheric dust, according to previous studies (Vinogradova and Kotova, 2019; Polyakov et al., 2020).

#### **3.4.** Pollution indices

In order to correctly evaluate and interpret pollution of studied materials by trace elements, several pollution indices have been used.

The geoaccumulation index  $(I_{geo})$  has been used to assess general level of pollution with the accordance to the following formula:

$$I_{geo} = \log_2 \left[ \frac{C_n}{1.5B_n} \right]$$

where Cn is the measured concentration of the element in the material, Bn is the natural value and 1.5 is the constant which gives us possibility to correctly interpret natural changes and insignificant anthropogenic impact. Seven types of  $I_{geo}$  from

uncontaminated to extremely contaminated were defined by Muller (Muller, 1979). They are presented in Table 6.

According to previous study (Reimann and de Caritat, 2005) using values of Earth's crust and global average values would not lead to correct results. Thus, it is necessary to use the local background value (samples from non-polluted soils) as a reference frame (Blaser et al., 2000). The averaged concentrations of trace elements in natural soils from previously published studies (Degtyareva et al., 2020; Podkolzin and Anziferov, 2007) conducted in the biosphere reserve at the Caucasus mountains and foothill areas were used as a geochemical background for calculating indices for this study.

Contamination factor (CF) is another pollution index which shows the pollution degree directly evaluated by each trace element in the studied materials at each study site (Muller, 1979). It is calculated as following:

$$CF_i = \frac{C_m}{B_m}$$

where Cm is measured concentration of individual element in the sample and  $B_m$  is the background value at the study area. Level of pollution accessed by CF is usually divided in four levels (Likuku et al., 2013) which are presented in Table 6.

Degree of contamination ( $C_{degree}$ ) is used to evaluate the average degree of pollution for all trace elements at each study site and it is calculated with accordance to the following formula:

$$C_{degree} = \sum_{i=1}^{n=5} CF_i$$

where *n* is the number of measured elements in this particular investigation and sum of CF values of five metals are used to calculate  $C_{degree}$  in each study site. Classification of this method is shown in Table 6, it was proposed by Zahran et al (2015), where *n* is the number of elements.

Modified degree of contamination (m $C_{degree}$ ) is a general method to assess the pollution status which is calculated as following (Machender et al., 2011):

$$mC_{degree} = \frac{C_{degree}}{n}$$

Classification of  $mC_{degree}$  is presented in Table 6 according to Abrahim and Parker (2008).

Index	Classification					
Geoaccumulation index (Igeo)	$\leq 0$ Practically unpolluted					
	0-1 Uncontaminated to slightly polluted					
	1 – 2 Moderately polluted					
	2-3 Moderately to highly polluted					
	3 – 4 Highly polluted					
	4 – 5 Highly to extremely polluted					
	>5 Extremely polluted					
Contamination factor (CF)	<1 Low pollution					
	1 – 3 Moderate pollution					
	3 – 6 High pollution					
	$\geq$ 6 Extremely high pollution					
Degree of contamination	<n degree="" low="" of="" pollution<="" td=""></n>					
(C <sub>degree</sub> )	n-2n Moderate degree of pollution					
	2n – 4n High degree of pollution					
	$\geq$ 4n Extremely high degree of pollution					
Modified degree of	< 1.5 No to very low degree of pollution					
contamination (mC <sub>degree</sub> )	1.5 – 2 Low degree of pollution					
	2-4 Moderate degree of pollution					
	4 – 8 High degree of pollution					
	8 – 16 Very high degree of pollution					
	16 – 32 Extremely high degree of pollution					
	$\geq$ 32 Ultra high degree of pollution					

Table 6. Classification of pollution indices.

### 3.5 Statistical analysis

For statistical processing of information computer program Statistica 12 was used (StatSoft Inc., 2013). Before statistical analysis data has been normalized where it was needed. Minimum and maximum values essentially out of the average range have been checked and, if necessary, removed. In order to find statistically significant differences between obtained results from different sampling points, one-way ANOVA has been used which goal is to test the significant difference between the averages in the different groups by comparing the variance of these groups, in our case between soils and sediments. To evaluate relationships between obtained data, nonparametric Spearman's rank correlation test has been used as a rank measure of the linear relationship between random variables,

which is used to establish a correlation between entities, in our case between soils and sediments.

#### 4. Results

In this research we studied glaciers and soils of the Central Caucasus mountain region which is the most high-altitudinal part of the Caucasus mountain range. First area of study, the Baksan Gorge, starts at the foothill around 1 km height above the sea level and ends with the Elbrus Mt., over 5 km height above the sea level. The Garabashi Glacier is slope glacier located at the south-eastern part of the Elbrus Mt, at the high altitude, close to the mountain peak. It is mostly covered by snow with presence of cryoconites in holes and is surrounded by lateral moraine. Water streams from the glacier flow to the Baksan river. The Skhelda Glacier is the valley glacier located in south-western part of the Baksan Gorge. It is extended in length glacier which is surrounded by mountain walls. The Skhelda Glacier is a debris-covered glacier with a presence of supraglacial lake on its surface. Water streams from the Skhelda Glacier form Skhelda river which further flows to the Baksan river. In the Baksan Gorge we have found mountain soils which were defined as Molic Leptosols and Leptic Umbrisols. They have weakly developed soil profiles with inclusions of rocks and pebbles due to harsh climatic conditions and recent time of formation. At the top they are covered with herbaceous vegetation cover. These soils are exposed to the influence of mudflows and floods of the Baksan river.

Similarly, the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge starts at the foothill around 1 km height and ends at the Bezengi mountain wall at the height around 5 km above the sea level. The Bezengi Glacier is extended in length valley glacier which is covered by deposited aeolian dust and is surrounded by mountain walls. Glacier is surrounded by both lateral and terminal moraines. In the lower part of the Bezengi Glacier there is a water stream which feeds Khulamo-Bezengi river. Cryoconites are presented on the slopes of the glacier in holes and dispersed. In the vicinity of the glacier we have found soil-like bodies which are formed under the cryoconite and mudflow material input, they have weakly developed profile with presence of vegetation in some parts. Local mountain soils are located in the floodplain and on the hill. Both of them have lots of pebble inclusions and low amount of roots as well as herbaceous vegetation cover at the top horizon.

Studied Chernozems located in the beginning of the Baksan Gorge and have highly developed soil profile with depth more than 100 cm and thick humus horizon. Roots mainly have been observed in the top horizons while in the bottom horizons calcareous inclusions have been found.

# 4.1. Basic physicochemical features

Results of investigation of basic physical and chemical features of studied materials are presented at the Table 7.

Table 7. Physicochemical parameters of studied cryoconites, soils, moraines and mudflows (ND = not defined).

				Basal	C q/(by)	$C_{0}/(b_{1})$		
Sample Horizon	рН (H <sub>2</sub> O)	pH (KCl)	respiration	C,% (Uy	C, % (Uy	NI 0/	C/N	
			(mg CO <sub>2</sub> /	mathod)	unect mathad)	1 <b>N</b> , %	C/IN	
				100 g*day)	method)	method)		
KB1	Surface	6.07	5.17	24.20	0.16	0.14	ND	ND
KB2	Surface	6.54	6.35	11.00	0.28	0.05	ND	ND
KB3	Surface	6.45	5.96	6.60	0.11	0.06	ND	ND
	Oe	6.49	5.67	39.60	2.86	7.82	0.31	25.23
KB4	Ah	6.58	5.60	39.60	1.61	1.88	ND	ND
Sample KB1 KB2 KB3 KB3 KB4 KB4 KB5 KB6 KB6 KB7 KB6 KB7 KB8 KB9 KB10 Bez1.1 Bez1.2 Bez2.1 Bez2.2 Bez3.1 Bez3.2 Bez4.1 Bez4.2 Bez4.3 Bez5 Bez6 Bez7 Bez8	A/C	6.44	ND	17.60	0.89	1.45	ND	ND
	Ah	6.90	6.05	48.40	2.44	3.80	0.22	17.27
KB5	A/C	6.98	6.06	30.80	2.15	2.37	0.14	16.92
	Ck	6.98	6.30	17.60	1.37	2.03	0.03	67.66
VD6	<ul> <li>Horizon</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>Oe</li> <li>Ah</li> <li>A/C</li> <li>Ah</li> <li>A/C</li> <li>Ck</li> <li>Ah</li> <li>Bk</li> <li>Ch</li> <li>C</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>C</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>C</li> <li>C</li> <li>Surface</li> <li>C</li> <li>C</li> <li>C</li> <li>Oe</li> <li>A</li> <li>B</li> <li>C</li> <li>Oe</li> <li>Oe</li> </ul>	7.89	ND	22.00	2.49	4.72	0.25	18.88
KB6	Bk	7.82	ND	26.40	0.68	3.20	ND	ND
VD 7	Ch	7.24	ND	17.60	0.15	ND	ND	ND
ND /	С	6.95	6.92	17.60	0.13	ND	ND	ND
KB8	Surface	5.84	4.45	41.80	1.41	1.63	ND	ND
KB9	Surface	7.25	ND	24.20	0.29	ND	ND	ND
KB10	С	6.16	5.49	39.60	0.05	ND	ND	ND
Bez1.1	Ch	6.63	6.09	30.80	0.24	ND	ND	ND
Bez1.2	С	6.77	6.07	13.17	0.16	ND	ND	ND
Bez2.1	Surface	6.97	5.73	9.90	0.17	ND	ND	ND
Bez2.2	Surface	6.84	6.18	14.27	0.15	ND	ND	ND
Bez3.1	Surface	5.87	5.58	8.76	0.23	ND	ND	ND
Bez3.2	Surface	6.74	6.37	19.72	0.19	ND	ND	ND
Bez4.1	С	6.45	6.22	10.97	0.18	ND	ND	ND
Bez4.2	С	6.42	6.17	6.58	0.10	ND	ND	ND
Bez4.3	С	6.41	6.24	13.17	0.18	ND	ND	ND
Bez5	С	6.46	5.92	9.88	0.24	ND	ND	ND
Bez6	С	7.09	ND	5.48	0.16	ND	ND	ND
Bez7	Surface	6.45	5.96	26.29	0.19	ND	ND	ND
Bez8	Surface	6.72	5.74	25.22	0.19	ND	ND	ND
	Oe	5.98	4.90	21.91	3.70	ND	ND	ND
Bez9	А	6.02	4.20	35.09	2.79	ND	ND	ND
	В	6.38	4.25	24.18	0.58	ND	ND	ND
	С	6.71	4.56	11.00	0.41	ND	ND	ND
Bez10	Oe	5.99	4.76	26.40	7.54	ND	ND	ND

	В	5.96	5.60	17.55	5.45	ND	ND	ND
	С	6.26	5.07	10.97	2.82	ND	ND	ND
Bez11.1	С	6.92	6.61	2.20	0.24	ND	ND	ND
Bez11.2	С	6.41	6.36	5.48	0.29	ND	ND	ND
Bez12	А	6.78	6.48	12.06	3.30	ND	ND	ND
	A/B	7.00	ND	19.78	1.67	ND	ND	ND
	Bk	7.01	ND	10.96	1.60	ND	ND	ND
Bez13	А	6.82	6.21	8.77	1.62	ND	ND	ND
	A/B	6.59	5.28	7.70	1.70	ND	ND	ND
	Bk	6.31	5.86	16.50	1.39	ND	ND	ND

Let's start with the materials, sampled from glaciers and soils of the Baksan Gorge. Values of the water pH vary between slightly acidic and slightly alkaline. In general, most of the samples show neutral reaction or close to it. The same situation is observed with pH KCl. For some samples TOC content was not defined by CHN-analyser due to lower amount than detection limit. The lowest TOC values measured by direct measurement method range from 0.05% in cryoconite from the Skhelda Glacier and in moraine deposits from the Garabashi Glacier, the highest value is 7.82% in the Molic Leptosol sample KB4. In the sample KB5, which is more remote from glaciers, this value is lower (3.80%). The TOC values obtained from oxidation-titration method range between 0.05% in KB10 moraine sample and 2.86% in KB4 Leptosols. Higher than in sediments basal respiration values are determined in almost all soil samples, however, cryoconite KB8 also shows high values (41.8 mg CO<sub>2</sub>/ 100 g\*day) which points to the fact that microbiological activity on this part of the Garabashi glacier is comparable with local soils. Content of nitrogen is low in almost all samples and was determined only in local soils with the highest value of 0.31 in the sample which are located close to the glaciers. C/N ratio was defined in case of possibility. Statistical analysis of data shows significant difference between TOC in studied soils and sediments, ANOVA test F = 21.28, p<0.05. According to Spearman's rank correlation, relationship is observed between the content of TOC and basal respiration values (0.51).

Now let's observe results obtained from the Bezengi Glacier and Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge. In most of cases pH values are similar to previous sampling sites, showing neutral values of acidity or close to it. Among cryoconites sample Bez3.1 from the crack as well as samples from cryoconite holes show slightly acidic reaction. Statistical analysis revealed significant difference (F = 8.62, p<0.05) between pH H<sub>2</sub>O in sediments at the glacier and Leptosols/Umbrisols which means that in general local soils are more acidic. The large difference between H<sub>2</sub>O and KCl pH is also observed in local

soils. Moreover, significant statistical difference (F = 66.80, p<0.05) is observed in pH values between supraglacial sediments and Leptosols/Umbrisols. Basal respiration values among cryoconites are lower on the surface of the glacier than in cracks reaching peak values in samples from cryoconite holes (up to 26.29 mg CO<sub>2</sub>/ 100 g\*day) what is comparable or higher than in local soils. Content of TOC was defined only by oxidationtitration indirect method. All cryoconites show low values which are slightly higher on the surface of the glacier. Higher value (0.24%) are defined in moraine deposits close to the Bezengi glacier. High values of TOC (up to 7.54%) are observed in Leptosols/Umbrisols, especially in the upper horizons. According to statistical processing significant difference is observed between TOC content in studied sediments and soils (F = 20.75, p<0.05). Fine earth fraction mostly dominates in soils and coarse earth fraction in cryoconites which is proven statistically (p<0.05). Reliable negative relationship is observed between TOC and pH values ( $H_2O = -0.70$ , KCl = -0.73) which indicates that additional organic carbon lead to decrease of pH in soils and sediments of this highmountain site. Amount of coarse earth fraction statistically negatively influences TOC content (-0.68) while fine earth fraction has a positive correlation (0.73) as well as with basal respiration values (0.50).

Results obtained from research of Chernozems from the Baksan Gorge show mostly neutral pH of these soils. A large difference between the values of actual and exchangeable acidity is observed in sample Bez13. In this case, the upper horizon shows a neutral reaction, while the underlying ones are more acidic. TOC content is the highest in A horizon of Chernozems (up to 3.30%) with the lowest value in the most remote study site. Values of basal respiration are higher when the sampling site is closer to glacier (up to 26.4 mg CO<sub>2</sub>/ 100 g \*day). Fresh mudflow shows low values of TOC as well as of basal respiration. Significant difference according to statistical processing is observed between values of TOC in supraglacial sediments in the Baksan Gorge and Chernozems with the higher values in latter (F = 21.84, p<0.05). Values of coarse and fine silt also differ significantly (p<0.05).

Comparing cryoconites and other sediments from Garabashi and Skhelda glaciers with those from the Bezengi glacier we can observe that basic physicochemical features are similar except of samples such as KB2 and KB8. Studied Leptosols and Umbrisols in the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge have more acidic pH of extraction than those at the Baksan Gorge and both of them have high basal respiration and TOC values.

#### 4.2. Particle-size distribution

Results of particle-size distribution analysis is presented in Table 8.

Sample	Horizon	Coarse	Fine earth,	Sand	Silt	Clay
		earth, %	%	(1-0.05mm)	(0.05-	(<
VD 1		02.40	6.60	(0,00	0.002mm)	0.002mm)
KBI	Surface of	93.40	6.60	69.08	27.45	3.47
KB2	Surface	14.90	85.10	75.76	23.91	0.33
KB3	Surface	44.00	56.00	65.80	28.86	5.34
KB4	Oe	49.50	50.50	72.52	15.09	12.39
KB5	Ah	16.10	83.90	80.99	10.08	8.93
	A/C	21.10	78.90	81.44	12.74	5.82
	Ck	38.10	61.90	85.12	6.16	8.72
KB6	Ah	44.30	55.70	85.12	7.91	6.97
	Bk	31.20	68.80	75.30	17.09	7.61
KB 7	Ch	31.00	69.00	81.85	12.63	5.52
	С	32.20	67.80	85.12	11.03	3.85
KB8	Surface	12.60	87.40	29.71	56.91	14.10
KB9	Surface	84.60	15.40	89.37	3.31	7.32
KB10	С	46.20	53.80	84.32	13.56	2.12
Bez1.1	Ch	54.30	45.70	84.61	11.13	4.26
Bez1.2	С	58.65	41.35	56.39	38.10	5.51
Bez2.1	Surface	50.30	49.70	71.96	23.24	4.80
Bez2.2	Surface	66.04	33.96	75.25	22.07	2.68
Bez3.1	Surface	65.57	34.43	85.28	11.52	3.20
Bez3.2	Surface	62.26	37.74	68.76	28.61	2.63
Bez4.1	С	59.99	40.01	74.12	21.36	4.52
Bez4.2	С	58.33	41.67	59.89	35.91	4.20
Bez4.3	С	52.93	47.07	49.37	42.30	8.33
Bez5	С	43.74	56.26	77.17	18.37	4.46
Bez6	С	64.48	35.52	92.64	6.08	1.28
Bez7	Surface	53.01	46.99	83.13	16.05	0.82
Bez8	Surface	41.84	58.16	72.52	24.08	3.40
	Oe	5.02	94.98	38.01	51.59	10.40
Der	А	5.50	94.50	56.25	40.41	3.34
Bez9	В	22.34	77.66	83.12	12.00	4.88
	C	27.65	72.35	77.13	18.39	4.48
	Oe	19.89	80.11	73.73	20.50	5.77
Bez10	В	20.50	79.50	82.00	11.00	7.00
	C	54.61	45.39	57.10	37.08	5.82
Bez11.1	C	58.63	41.37	70.49	22.20	7.31
Bez11.2	С	63.63	36.37	53.56	38.92	7.52
<b>D</b> 161	A	6.90	93.10	19.01	57.64	23.35
Bez12.1	A/B	7.12	92.88	36.76	42.74	20.50
	BK	17.34	82.66	15.96	64.84	19.20
$D_{a=12.1}$	A	2.8/	97.13	31.24	46.94	21.82
bez13.1	A/B D1r	1.99	98.01	42.12	<u> </u>	19.83
1	DK	0.01	77.77	77.77	J1.10	10.92

Table 8. Particle-size distribution of sampled materials.

Analysis revealed that coarse earth fraction mostly dominates in cryoconites with some exceptions such as samples KB2 and KB8. Sand grains (grain diameter 2-0.05 mm) are prevailed in sediments from Garabashi and Skhelda glaciers. Most of the studied materials in this locations show low content of clay (up to 7.32%) with the exception of cryoconite KB8 in which silt (grain size 0.05-0.002 mm) is a dominating fraction (56.19%) but also the content of clay (grain diameter <0.002 mm) is the highest among all sediments and Leptosols/Umbrisols in the Baksan Gorge (14.10%) and content of sand is the lowest (29.71%). However, sampling point KB9 at the same glacier was classified as sand due to high content of sand fraction (89.37%) and low content of silt fraction (3.31%). Both KB2 and KB8 samples are dominated by the fine earth fraction (grain diameter < 2 mm) which distinguishes them from other cryoconites from the Baksan Gorge glaciers. In general, domination of coarse earth (grain diameter > 2 mm) is typical for cryoconites of this study site while downstream soils show more diverse parameters in this regard. Soil texture triangle with particle-size distribution in these samples is presented on Fig. 6.



Figure 6. Particle-size distribution of Leptosols, Umbrisols and sediments from the Baksan Gorge and its glaciers at the texture triangle.

Particle-size distribution of Leptosols and Umbrisols from the Baksan Gorge does not differ greatly from the supraglacial sediments and mudflows in terms of fine earth texture. They are defined as loamy sand and sandy loam. Relatively high amount of clay is observed in the Oe horizons (up to 12.39%).

Similarly, values of coarse earth fraction are lower in Leptosols and Umbrisols at the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge than in sediments from the Bezengi Glacier and fresh mudflow which is also proved statistically by analysis (p<0.05). Among the sediments, fine earth fraction (grain diameter < 2 mm) dominates in moraine sample Bez5 (56.36%) in vicinity of glacier and in the cryoconite from the big hole (58.16%). Particle-size distribution at the soil texture triangle is presented on Figure 7.



Figure 7. Particle-size distribution of materials from the Bezengi Glacier (red), Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge Leptosols/Umbrisols (green) and studied Chernozems (yellow) at the texture triangle.

Most of cryoconites and moraines from this location are dominated by sand (up to 92.64% in moraine) and show low values of clay (up to 5.51% in cryoconite). This distinguishes them from the local Leptosols and Umbrisols which have relatively high values of clay, especially in upper horizons (up to 10.40%). However, again the predominance of sand fraction is observed in the most of local Leptosols and Umbrisols samples. Statistical processing revealed significant difference between supraglacial

sediments and local Leptosols/Umbrisols (F = 4.81, p<0.05) in amount of clay particles. In general, particle-size distribution of materials from two gorges is similar and comparable with each other with the dependence on the source of material. Chernozems which are more remote from the glaciers and high mountains and have been developed longer in time and in better environmental conditions show significant dominance of the fine earth fraction (F = 9.66, p<0.05) with very little amount of coarse earth in most of the samples with the biggest exception of KB6 sample due to its closeness to high-altitudinal part. Clay particles make up considerable proportion of particle-size distribution, up to 23.35%, significantly distinguishing them from the supraglacial sediments (F = 71.11, p<0.05) while in general silt is dominating among studied Chernozems.

#### 4.3. Micromorphological features

Micromorphological features of materials under study are presented at the figures 8-16 (Figures 8-10 have been made by V. Polyakov).



Figure 8. Micromorphology of cryoconite sample KB1, the Skhelda Glacier. A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, K-f – fieldspar, Mi – mica.

Soil fabric at the cryoconite at the Skhelda Glacier shows the large fragments of minerals with weak signs of transformation. No organic or biogenic remains have been observed. Random distribution of material is observed in this sample. Mineral composition mainly consists of quartz and feldspar with mica in the sand-silt aggregates which were exposed to physical weathering. At some point minerals were affected by aluminum and iron oxides mobility which caused light ferruginization of the material. Fractures are not expressed as in cryogenic soils which indicates low degree of cryodegradation.



Figure 9. Micromorphology of KB8 of cryoconite, the Garabashi Glacier (made by V. Polyakov). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, Pyr – pyroclasic.

Mineral composition of cryoconite sampled at the Garabashi Glacier differs greatly from the cryoconite sampled from the Skhelda Glacier. Mechanical destruction is strongly expressed which is shown by parallel cracking in fragments of quartz and clay fractions in the plasma. In general, materials are also weakly transformed.



Figure 10. Micromorphology of Leptosols and Umbrisols from the Baksan Gorge (made by V. Polyakov). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. K-f – feldspar. Arrow indicates clay-biogenic material.

Mineral composition of Leptosols and Umbrisols from the Baksan Gorge shows similarities with the cryoconites, however, the transformation is more expressed. Weathering of biological type is also observed due to form of cracks. Soil fabric is represented by feldspar as well as by organic fine material which is represented by sandclay organic matter.

Let's move to the micromorphology of the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge. Mineral composition of cryoconite sample from the Bezengi Glacier is similar to those from the glaciers of the Baksan Gorge. It consists of large framents of quartz, mica and feldspar with weak sights of transformation. Dominant type of weathering is physical; fragments are mechanically transformed which is observed by parallel cracking in mica fragment. Large weakly transformed polymineral complexes which consist of feldspar, mica and quartz also can be found in this sample (Figure 10, C-D).


Figure 11. Micromorphology of cryoconite from the Bezengi Glacier (scale bar =  $500\mu m$ ). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, Mi – mica, F-p – feldspar, Pyr – pyroclastic.



Figure 12. Micromorphology of cryoconite from the cryoconite holes at the Bezengi Glacier (scale bar =  $500\mu$ m). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, Mi – mica, F-p – feldspar.

Studied cryoconites from the holes show presence of mechanically transformed large fragments of quartz and feldspar. Pyroclastic inclusions in quartz are presented as it was observed in the previous sample. Mica inclusions are observed in feldspar and are also presented as a small separate fragments. Weathering rate is weak, mostly represented by the physical type. No biogenic conglomerates or organic remains have been observed. Fractures are not abundant indicating low degree of cryodegradation.



Figure 13. Micromorphology of moraine from the the Bezengi Glacier (scale bar = 500µm). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, Mi – mica, Pyr – pyroclastic.

Soil fabric of moraine deposits from the Bezengi Glacier shows weakly transformed large fragments of minerals. Mica with incorporation of quartz and pyroclastic lenses indicates low rate of physical weathering. This is also observed in fragment of quartz (Figure 13, C-D) which has random oriented cracks and incorporation of mica as well as separated mica fragments which were mechanically replaced.



Figure 14. Micromorphology of soil-like body close to the Bezengi Glacier (scale  $bar = 500 \mu m$ ). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, F-s – feldspar. Arrows indicate clay-mineral complexes.

Soil fabric of soil-like bodies close to the Bezengi Glacier indicate higher rate of weathering than in cryoconites. Mineralogical composition includes quartz, mica and feldspar which is similar to the cryoconites. However, in this case we can observe claymineral complexes. No organic remains have been observed. Due to mobility of iron and aluminum oxides sights of ferruginization are presented in some parts of the material.

Micromorphology of soils from the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge is presented at Figure 15. Slightly different picture is observed in the lower B horizon. There is no visible biogenic material, however, the presence of clay-mineral conglomerate with fragments of quartz and mica is noted.



Figure 15. Soil fabric of Leptosols and Umbrisols from the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge. A, B – scale bar =  $200\mu$ m (horizon Oe); C, D – scale bar =  $500\mu$ m (horizon B). A, C – plane-polarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, Mi – mica.



Figure 16. Soil fabric of studied Chernozems (scale bar =  $500\mu$ m). A, C – planepolarized light; B, D – crossed-polarized light. Qts – quartz, Mi – mica. Qts – quartz; Mi – mica.

Micromorphological study of Chernozems shows presence of large polymineral fragments as well as organic matter and organo-mineral aggregates. Polymineral fragment includes quartz and mica, it is well-transformed with signs of biological weathering and is surrounded by organic matter and organic-clay conglomerates. Large clay-mineral aggregates with incorporation of highly-destructed quartz which was affected by biological weathering are also presented.

### 4.4. Trace elements concentration

Trace elements concentrations in studied materials are presented in Table 9.

Table 9. Trace elements content in cryoconites, soils, mudflows and moraines (mg/kg), for fine earth fraction.

Sample	Horizon	Cu	Pb	Zn	Ni	Cd
KB1	Surface of the glacier	2.84	< 0.01	20.00	8.42	< 0.005
KB2	Surface	2.36	< 0.01	13.40	5.58	< 0.005
KB3	Surface	3.94	0.21	18.40	6.93	< 0.005
	Oe	12.00	13.70	52.10	18.10	< 0.005
КВ4	Ah	12.80	15.20	52.70	19.90	< 0.005
	A/C	22.50	17.00	60.50	25.40	< 0.005
VD 7	Ah	10.40	5.53	56.40	15.50	0.05
KB5	A/C	10.20	4.98	54.20	15.40	< 0.005
	Ck	9.72	3.68	50.50	14.00	< 0.005
KB6	Ah	7.11	5.21	35.10	15.20	0.03
_	Bk	5.73	4.20	30.30	13.10	0.04
KB7	Ch	2.57	1.89	27.10	8.21	0.01
	С	2.90	1.99	29.20	9.10	0.02
KB8	Surface	16.70	30.20	62.00	38.90	0.13
KB9	Cryoconite	6.92	17.10	35.50	15.90	0.05
KB10	0 C 1.07 0.33 3.4		3.48	1.05	< 0.005	
Bez1.1	Ch	11.00	8.66	59.00	11.70	< 0.005
Bez1.2	С	15.60	12.70	72.60	14.20	< 0.005
Bez2.1	Surface	8.05	8.34	44.60	12.10	< 0.005
Bez2.2	Surface	6.74	3.67	30.40	6.50	< 0.005
Bez3.1	Surface	17.40	30.00	85.70	19.00	0.05
Bez3.2	Surface	10.70	24.90	55.20	16.10	< 0.005
Bez4.1	С	12.60	9.64	49.20	13.70	< 0.005
Bez4.2	С	12.50	15.70	58.70	14.20	< 0.005

Bez4.3	С	12.90	11.00	54.90	15.20	< 0.005
Bez5	С	8.13	8.92	45.00	10.80	< 0.005
Bez6	С	6.04	6.14	40.60	8.61	< 0.005
Bez7	Surface	10.40	18.30	48.90	13.00	< 0.005
Bez8	Surface	16.10	15.00	70.90	15.80	< 0.005
	Oe	8.08	14.40	50.80	8.01	0.10
Bez9	А	4.87	10.90	34.30	6.09	0.05
	В	2.40	7.94	33.40	3.59	< 0.005
	С	3.41	8.55	40.20	4.91	0.02
	Oe	12.80	15.00	87.50	10.30	0.25
Bez10	В	12.00	16.30	89.20	11.60	0.25
	С	9.04	10.90	85.10	12.60	0.31
Bez11.1	С	40.70	16.40	89.30	42.00	0.11
Bez11.2	С	40.60	15.10	89.30	40.60	0.07
	А	29.80	12.10	78.70	26.60	0.11
Bez12	A/B	19.90	14.00	63.50	28.40	< 0.005
	Bk	22.80	13.10	69.40	32.50	0.02
	A	24.80	16.50	72.30	37.70	0.08
Bez13	A/B	24.40	16.90	70.80	36.00	0.08
	Bk	25.30	15.40	71.90	37.70	0.03

In the Baksan Gorge the most polluted materials were cryoconite from the Garabashi Glacier and fresh mudflow, the highest values of trace elements are observed in them. Materials from the Skhelda Glacier, which is located remote from this area, have low values of pollutants as well as moraine from the Garabashi Glacier. Higher variability is observed between all samples even within one study site which is especially noticeable at the Garabashi Glacier. The lowest content of copper is observed at the Skhelda Glacier (2.84 mg/kg) while it increases in cryoconite from the Garabashi Glacier (16.70 mg/kg) and reaches its peak in fresh mudflow sample (up to 40.70 mg/kg). Values of copper in local Leptosols and Umbrisols are relatively high, closer to its content in the most polluted cryoconite KB8, which increase in study site nearby glaciers. Values of lead differs greatly from 0.01 mg/kg at the Skhelda Glacier to 30.20 mg/kg at the Garabashi Glacier.

Among Leptosols and Umbisols concentrations are highly dependent on the study site: it is almost twice lower in samples which are more remote from the studied glaciers. Concentration of zinc and nickel show similar trends: it is the lowest in moraine deposits, increasing in cryoconites, especially at KB8 sample from the Garabashi Glacier (up to 62.00 and 38.90 mg/kg, respectively). The highest values are observed at the fresh mudflow: up to 89.30 and 42.00 mg/kg. Cadmium levels in supraglacial sediments are low and in the most of cases are below the detection limit, the highest value is observed at the Garabashi Glacier (0.13 mg/kg). Similar situation was defined in the local soils: the content of cadmium does not exceed 0.05 mg/kg. To estimate influence of supraglacial sediments on the pollution of Leptosols and Umbisols fresh mudflow sample was excluded from the statistical analysis. Statistical difference is defined between copper content (F = 6.36, p<0.05) and zinc content (F = 9.94, p<0.05) in sediments and local soils. Statistically significant relationship is observed between all trace metals, except of cadmium.

Cryoconites and moraines from the Bezengi Glacier are relatively highly polluted by trace elements, closer to materials from the Garabashi Glacier or even more. Among the studied samples the highest values of lead (30.00 mg/kg), zinc (85.70 mg/kg), nickel (19.00 mg/kg) and cadmium (0.05 mg/kg) are defined at the Bez3.1 sample at the crack of the glacier. Soil-like bodies shows values similar to the supraglacial sediments and they are lower in the study point with plants which may indicate uptake of trace elements by plants. The highest content of copper is observed at the sample taken from the cryoconite hole. High variability of trace element values are observed between cryoconites in crakes, cryoconite holes and sediments at the glaciers surface, even if they were close to each other. This is also indirectly confirmed by the content of trace elements in local soils due to transfer of pollutants from the glaciers. In general, it is higher than in supraglacial sediments, especially in more remote study site Bez10 because this soil section is located in the floodplain and is affected by floods while study site Bez9 is located on high ground and is not essentially affected by the water flow. Considerably higher concentrations of cadmium are observed in local soils in comparison with sediments. In most of cases the highest concentrations of trace elements are observed in the top horizons of the soil profile (Cu = 12.80 mg/kg, Pb = 16.30 mg/kg, Zn = 89.20mg/kg).

Statistically significant difference is observed between the sediments and local soils in the content of Cu (F = 4.84, p<0.05), Ni (F = 10.09, p<0.05) and Cd (F = 14.72,

p<0.05). Statistically significant positive relationships observed between the content of all trace elements, except of cadmium.

Studied Chernozems show higher than in Leptosols and Umbisols pollution by trace elements. Values varies greatly between Chernozem samples: concentrations in KB6 sample, which was taken from the middle of the Baksan Gorge are around twice lower in almost all cases than in samples from valley part of the gorge. Among the latter study sites Bez12 and Bez13 the highest values predominantly were defined in the upper horizons of the soil profiles.

## 4.5. Pollution indices

Index of geoaccumulation (Igeo) has been calculated for all study materials. Results are presented in Table 10.

Sample	Horizon	Cu	Pb	Zn	Ni	Cd
KB1	Surface of the glacier	-2.06	-10.70	-0.67	-2.40	< -6.97
KB2	Surface	-2.32	-10.70	-1.22	-2.94	< -6.97
KB3	Surface	-1.60	-6.38	-0.76	-2.64	< -6.97
	Oe	0.03	-0.30	0.74	-1.25	< -6.97
KB4	Ah	0.12	-0.15	0.79	-1.12	< -6.97
	A/C	0.93	0	0.95	-0.79	< -6.97
	Ah	-0.18	-1.60	0.85	-1.47	< -6.97
KB5	A/C	-0.20	-1.79	0.79	-1.51	< -6.97
	Ck	-0.29	-2.18	0.70	-1.64	< -6.97
KB6	Ah	-0.74	-1.69	0.16	-1.51	-4.64
	Bk	-1.03	-2.00	-0.04	-1.74	-4.06
KB7	Ch	-2.18	-3.18	-0.20	-2.40	-5.80
	С	-2	-3.06	-0.11	-2.32	-4.88
KB8	Surface	0.51	0.83	0.99	-0.17	-2.18
KB9	Cryoconite	-0.76	0	0.18	-1.43	-3.64
KB10	С	-3.47	-5.64	-3.18	-5.64	< -6.97
Bez1.1	Ch	-0.11	-0.97	0.92	-1.89	< -6.97
Bez1.2	С	0.41	-0.42	1.21	-1.60	< -6.97
Bez2.1	Surface	-0.56	-1.03	0.52	-1.84	< -6.97

Table 10. Calculated Igeo of studied samples.

Bez2.2	Surface	-0.81	-2.18	-0.04	-2.73	< -6.97
Bez3.1	Surface	0.57	0.82	1.45	-1.18	-3.84
Bez3.2	Surface	-0.5	0.56	0.82	-1.43	< -6.97
Bez4.1	С	0.10	-0.81	0.65	-1.69	< -6.97
Bez4.2	С	0.08	-0.11	0.91	-1.60	< -6.97
Bez4.3	С	0.12	-0.62	0.81	-1.52	< -6.97
Bez5	С	-0.54	-0.92	0.53	-2.00	< -6.97
Bez6	С	-0.97	-1.47	0.38	-2.32	< -6.97
Bez7	Surface	-0.18	0.11	0.64	-1.74	< -6.97
Bez8	Surface	0.45	-0.18	1.18	-1.47	< -6.97
	Oe	-0.54	-0.23	0.70	-2.47	-2.74
Bez9	А	-1.28	-0.64	0.12	-2.84	-3.84
	В	-2.33	-1.09	0.10	-3.64	< -6.97
	С	-1.77	-1.00	0.36	-3.18	-5.06
	Oe	0.12	-0.18	1.49	-2.06	-1.40
Bez10	В	0.03	-0.06	1.51	-1.89	-1.40
	С	-0.38	-0.64	1.44	-1.77	-1.09
Bez11.1	С	1.79	-0.04	1.51	-0.04	-2.56
Bez11.2	С	1.78	-0.17	1.51	-0.11	-3.32
	А	1.34	-0.49	1.33	-0.71	-2.56
Bez12	A/B	0.76	-0.27	1.02	-0.62	< -6.97
	Bk	0.95	-0.38	1.15	-0.42	-5.06
	А	1.07	-0.04	1.21	-0.20	-3.06
Bez13	A/B	1.05	-0.01	1.18	-0.27	-3.06
	Bk	1.10	-0.14	1.2	-0.20	-4.32

Among materials from the Baksan Gorge all materials from the Skhelda glaciers are unpolluted while the Garabashi Glacier shows slightly polluted values of Cu, Pb and Zn (up to 0.99). Local Leptosols and Umbisols mostly polluted with Zn (up to 0.95) and generally they are more polluted than cryoconites. Samples from the Bezengi Glaciers are more polluted, especially with Zn (up to moderately polluted, 1.45). Similarly,

Leptosols and Umbisols are mostly polluted with Zn, especially samples which were taken from the study site at the floodplain, all of horizons are moderately polluted. Fresh mudflows are moderately polluted with Cu (up to 1.79) and with Zn (1.51). This trend is found in the studied Chernozems in beginning of the Baksan Gorge.

Table 11 shows Contamination Factor (CF) of the studied cryoconites, soils, mudlows and moraines.

Sample	Horizon	Cu	Pb	Zn	Ni	Cd
KB1	Surface of the glacier	0.36	0.01	0.10	0.29	0.01
KB2	Surface	0.36	0.01	0.64	0.19	0.01
KB3	Surface	0.30	0.02	0.88	0.24	0.02
	Oe	0.50	1.21	2.50	0.62	0.02
KB4	Ah	1.63	1.35	2.53	0.69	0.02
	A/C	2.86	1.50	2.90	0.88	0.02
	Ah	1.32	0.49	2.70	0.53	0.11
KB5	A/C	1.30	0.44	2.60	0.53	0.02
	Ck	1.24	0.33	2.42	0.48	0.02
KB6	Ah	0.90	0.46	1.68	0.52	0.07
	Bk	0.73	0.37	1.45	0.45	0.09
KB7	Ch	0.33	0.17	1.30	0.28	0.02
	С	0.37	0.18	1.40	0.31	0.05
KB8	Surface	2.12	2.67	2.97	1.34	0.30
KB9	Cryoconite	0.88	1.51	1.70	0.55	0.11
KB10	С	0.14	0.03	0.17	0.04	0.01
Bez1.1	Ch	1.40	0.77	2.83	0.40	0.02
Bez1.2	С	1.98	1.12	3.48	0.49	0.02
Bez2.1	Surface	1.02	0.74	2.14	0.42	0.02
Bez2.2	Surface	0.86	0.32	2.90	0.22	0.02
Bez3.1	Surface	2.21	2.65	4.11	0.66	0.11
Bez3.2	Surface	1.36	2.20	2.65	0.56	0.02
Bez4.1	С	1.60	0.85	2.36	0.47	0.02

Table 11. Contamination Factor (CF) of studied materials.

Bez4.2	С	1.59	1.39	2.81	0.49	0.02
Bez4.3	С	1.64	1.64 0.97		0.52	0.02
Bez5	С	1.03	0.79	2.16	0.37	0.02
Bez6	С	0.77	0.54	1.95	0.30	0.02
Bez7	Surface	1.32	1.62	2.34	0.45	0.02
Bez8	Surface	2.05	1.33	3.40	0.54	0.02
	Oe	1.03	1.27	2.44	0.28	0.23
Bez9	А	0.62	0.96	1.64	0.21	0.11
	В	0.31	0.70	1.60	0.12	0.02
	С	0.43	0.76	1.93	0.17	0.05
	Oe	1.63	1.33	4.19	0.36	0.57
Bez10	В	1.53	1.44	4.28	0.40	0.57
	С	1.15	0.96	4.08	0.43	0.70
Bez11.1	С	5.18	1.45	4.28	1.45	0.25
Bez11.2	С	5.17	1.34	4.28	1.40	0.16
	А	3.79	1.07	3.77	0.92	0.25
Bez12	A/B	2.53	1.24	3.04	0.98	0.02
	Bk	2.90	1.16	3.33	1.12	0.05
	Α	3.16	1.46	3.47	1.30	0.18
Bez13	A/B	3.10	1.50	3.39	1.24	0.18
	Bk	3.22	1.36	3.45	1.30	0.07

Regarding CF, most of samples from both glaciers of the Baksan Gorge show low level of pollution by Cu, Ni and Cd. Slightly different situation is observed with Pb and Zn where CF is very low at the Skhelda Glacier and shows moderate pollution, close to high pollution values (up to 2.97) at the Garabashi Glacier which may be connected with local combustion and allochthonous input of polluted material. Local soils have similar lever of CF with the exception of Cu which shows mostly moderate level of pollution. Material from the Bezengi Glacier mostly moderately polluted by Cu as well as by Pb and Ni. In some cases, high pollution by Zn is observed in cryoconites from cracks and cryoconite holes (up to 4.11). High pollution CF values of Zn are also observed at the downstream Leptosols and Umbisols samples from the floodplain. Fresh mudflow from the Baksan Gorge are highly polluted with Cu (up to 5.18) and Zn (4.28) while by other trace elements values of CF indicate moderate pollution. Chernozems, especially their upper horizons, are also show high pollution CF values by Cu and Zn while by other trace metals these values indicate moderate pollution in almost all cases, even by Cd.

Degree of contamination which shows general pollution of the study sites by all trace elements is shown in the Table 12.

Sample	Horizon	C <sub>degree</sub>	mC <sub>degree</sub>	
KB1	Surface of the glacier	0.76	0.35	
KB2	Surface	1.21	0.24	
KB3	Surface	1.46	0.35	
	Oe	4.86	1.23	
KB4	Ah	6.21	1.30	
	A/C	8.17	1.72	
	Ah	5.16	1.09	
KB5	A/C	4.89	1.03	
-	Ck	4.49	0.96	
KB6	Ah	3.64	0.77	
	Bk	3.10	0.66	
KB7	Ch	2.10	0.45	
	C	2.30	0.49	
KB8	Surface	9.41	1.96	
<u>KB9</u>	Cryoconite	4.76	0.99	
KB10	C	0.38	0.08	
Bez1.1	Ch	5.42	1.08	
Bez1.2	С	7.10	1.42	
Bez2.1	Surface	4.34	0.87	
Bez2.2	Surface	4.32	0.86	
Bez3.1	Surface	9.75	1.95	
Bez3.2	Surface	6.79	1.36	
Bez4.1	С	5.31	1.06	
Bez4.2	С	6.31	1.26	
Bez4.3	С	5.79	1.16	
Bez5	С	4.38	0.88	
Bez6	С	3.58	0.72	
Bez7	Surface	5.76	1.15	
Bez8	Surface	7.34	1.47	
	Oe	5.24	1.05	
Rez0	Α	3.55	0.71	
	В	2.76	0.55	
	С	3.33	0.67	
Bez10	Oe	8.07	1.61	
DCLIU	B	8.21	1 64	

Table 12. Degree of contamination and modified degree of contamination of studied materials.

	С	7.33	1.47
Bez11.1	С	12.61	2.52
Bez11.2	С	12.34	2.47
	А	9.80	1.96
Bez12	A/B	7.82	1.56
	Bk	8.55	1.71
	А	9.56	1.91
Bez13	A/B	9.42	1.88
	Bk	9.40	1.88

Moderate level of contamination according to Cdegree and mCdegree is observed only in one KB8 sample (9.41 and 1.96, respectively) among glaciers of the Baksan Gorge while in Leptosols and Umbisols of this location moderate level is more abundant. Bezengi Glacier shows more samples with moderate values, especially in cracks and cryoconite holes (up to 9.75 and 1.95). Similarly, soils from the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge are moderately contaminated at the floodplain study site (up to 8.21 and 1.64) and in the Oe horizon of local Leptosols and Umbisols while underlying horizons show low levels of contamination. The highest levels of contamination among all studied materials are observed in the samples of fresh mudflow which are defined as with high pollution level (12.61 and 2.52). Chernozem in the upper part of the Baksan Gorge show low level of pollution while in Chernozems in the beginning of this gorge all samples are determined as moderately polluted, probably indicating input of pollutants from the highway.

# 4.6. PAHs content, composition, sources and potential toxicity

Features of PAHs have been studied in samples from the Baksan Gorge glaciers and soils. The concentrations of recorded PAHs are presented in Table 13.

Table 13. Detected concentrations of polyarenes in studied samples (ng/g, the delta of measurements is given in brackets where applicable).

PAH	KB1	KB2	KB3	KB6Ah	KB6Bk	KB7Ch	KB7C	KB8	KB9	KB10	Blank
NAP	21	22	23	23	21	22	20	84	21	17	5
ANA	7	7	6	7	8	9	7	6	5	7	<6
FLU	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6	<6
PHE	9 (5)	7	7	10 (5)	17(8)	8 (4)	8 (4)	40 (20)	16	ND	ND
									(8)		
ANT	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	<1
FLT	21	21	21	22	22	22	24	28 (13)	21	22	<20
PYR	21	22	21	22	27 (13)	21	42	47 (22)	22	21	<20
							(19)				

BaA	7	7	7	7	7	6	7	7	7	7	<6
CHR	4	4	4	4	4	5	4	17 (9)	6 (3)	4	<3
BbF	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	13 (5)	7	7	<6
BkF	1	2	2	1	1	1	1	4 (2)	1	2	<1
BaP	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	6	2	2	<1
DBA	7	7	7	8	7	7	7	7	7	8	<6
BPE	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	<6
IPY	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	<6

Concentrations of individual polyarenes show high variability. Highest levels were detected for NAP (84 ng/g), PYR (47 ng/g) and PHE (40 ng/g). The lowest amount was detected for ANT: around 1 ng/g in all materials.

Cryoconite from the Garabashi Glacier is the most contaminated by PAHs among studied samples where the highest content of polyarenes such as NAP (84 ng/g), PHE (40 ng/g), FLT (28 ng/g), PYR (47 ng/g), CHR (17 ng/g), BbF (13 ng/g), BkF (4.2 ng/g) and BaP (5.8 ng/g). Also this sample shows higher content of individual polyarenes than the median among other studied materials. As it was detected with the concentrations of trace elements, the most unpolluted by PAHs samples located at the Skhelda Glacier.



Figure 17. Sum of concentrations of different PAHs groups (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov).

The sum of concentrations of all 15 studied PAHs is the highest at the sampling point from the Garabashi Glacier (280 ng/g) while it is much lower (from 126 to 151 ng/g) in other materials. It is shown at the Figure 17. Values of high-molecular weight (HMW) PAHs and low-molecular weight (LMW) PAHs differs greatly in each sample with dominance of HMW PAHs, especially in soil-like bodies which indicates influence of anthropogenic pollution. The only exception is KB8 sample where these values are similar to each other. Trend of pyrogenic polyarenes is similar to those of HMW PAHs because most of studied HMW PAHs have pyrogenic origin. Carcinogenic polyarenes show similar concentrations with LMW PAHs, varying from 47 ng/g at the Skhelda Glacier to 77.1 ng/g at the Garabashi Glacier.



Figure 18. Contribution of PAHs with different numbers of rings in proportion to the sum PAHs (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov).

Proportion of different groups of polyarenes to their sum is presented in Fig. 18, where NAP has 2 rings in the structure; ANA, FLU, PHE and ANT – 3 rings; FLT, PYR, BaA and CHR – 4 rings; BbF, BkF, BaP and DBA – 5 rings; BPE and IPY – 6 rings. The most abundant group in all samples is PAHs with 4 rings in structure (>30%) while the least noticeable is 6-rings PAHs (<10%). Most of studied materials have similar proportions of PAHs of different groups with the exception of KB8 sample from the

Garabashi Glacier where 2 rings PAH has an essential proportion of around 25% and the smallest proportion of 6 rings PAHs.



Figure 19. Constructed graphs of isomer ratios (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov).

Analysis of FLU/(FLU+PYR) to ANT/(ANT+PHE) ratios shows that KB7, KB2 and KB3 samples have combustion processes as source of PAHs while the rest have petrogenic source. Plot of LMW/HWM polyarenes to BaA/(BaA+CHR) indicates that all PAHs originate from combustion processes with the exception of KB8 which has mixed sources.

BaP-equivalents calculation shows that most of all individual PAHs toxicity do not exceed Maximum Permissible Concentration in soils (MPC, 20 ng/g) which is used in Russia. It is presented on the Fig. 20. However, the content of DBA is equivalent to around 40 ng/g of Benzo[a]pyrene which is twice higher than MPC. In general, the highest content of individual BaP-equivalents is observed in KB8 sample from the Garabashi Glacier.



Figure 20. BaP-equivalents concentrations of individual studied polyarenes (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov).



Figure 21. BaP-equivalents of the sum of studied PAHs in comparison with MPC (prepared by T. Nizamutdinov, colors indicating samples are the same as on previous figure).

BaP equivalent toxicity is higher than MPC in case we convert the sum of polyarenes to BaP equivalents (Fig. 21), in some samples more than twice.

#### 5. Discussion

Deglaciation of mountain territories is observed almost everywhere on the Earth. The Central Caucasus is not an exception in this case. Previous research (Stokes et al., 2006) indicated essential melting of Caucasian glaciers which caused increase of debris cover by around 5% (Stokes et al., 2007). Negative mass balance values have been determined for the period of last 20 years at the Garabashi Glacier (Rototaeva et al., 2019). One of the factors which influence retreating of glaciers is deposition of carbon-containing dust (Kaspari et al., 2015). During the warm period of year with ice and snow melting, cryoconites increase in size due to attraction of mineral particles as well as various elements (Polyakov et al., 2020b; Zheng et al., 2020).

Previous studies of basic physicochemical features of cryoconites and local soils in Spitsbergen (Kastovska et al., 2005) and water from cryoconite holes at the Tibetan plateau (Fair et al., 2020) have shown similar to our materials pH values: neutral or slightly acidic. In the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge local soils, generally, are more acidic than sediments, their values are close to 6 while values of sediments are closer to 7. Significant difference between pH H<sub>2</sub>O and KCl is also observed within Leptosols and Umbisols which indicates the presence of silt and fine fraction or humus as well as diverse mineralogical composition, which increase an absorptive capacity for hydrogen ions in acidic soils, thereby acidifying the soil solution (Seredina and Spirina, 2009). In studied Chernozems some acidity values decrease while going deeper in the soil profile. This is due to the fact that in alkaline soils, to which leached Chernozem belongs, the humus of the upper horizon creates conditions for a neutral reaction of the water extract, while in the lower horizons, due to the dissociation reaction of carbonic acid caused by the input of lateral water flows from high mountainous areas, hydrogen ions are formed, which pass into the soil-absorbing complex (Glukhikh, 2015). TOC content is the highest in studied Leptosols and Umbisols which indicates its transfer from the surface of glaciers to downstream areas as it was observed in previous research in Antarctica (Samui et al., 2020). Higher content of TOC within cryoconite sediments at the Bezengi Glacier which indicates importance of aeolian transfer.

In most samples of cryoconites from the Baksan Gorge TOC values defined by the direct measurement method is lower than those which was defined by indirect Tyurin measurement method what indicates conditions with oxygen deficiency and hydrogen surplus (Abakumov and Popov, 2005). These anaerobic conditions indicate that microorganisms which inhabit these sediments are anaerobes. The opposite situation is observed at the cryoconite sample from the Garabashi Glacier (KB8) as well as at the local soils. Here, there is an oxygen surplus and aerobic environment. Thus, local microorganisms are aerobes. In studied mountain soils while we go deeper, the TOC content is decreasing with layers which is also connected with plant residues at the upper part but mostly with input of carbon from the high-mountainous part. Significant relationships are observed between values of TOC and basal respiration due to fact that organic carbon act as a source for development of microbial communities. Relatively high values are also observed in cryoconites from cracks and cryoconite holes indicating development of microorganisms in these materials. In general, values of basal respiration are higher in Leptosols and Umbisols than in Chernozems or supraglacial sediments due to the input of easily accessible organic carbon. Results of study in Svalbard (Telling et al., 2012) indicated that values of basal respiration and TOC were similar to our results and they were depended on each other as well as on the microbial activity in the supraglacial sediments. Presence of gravimetric moisture in glacial environments contributes to development of microbial communities around water streams, however, transfer of nutrients from cryoconites to local soils also plays role which was observed in the Antarctica (Foreman et al., 2007).

Cryoconites from the Skhelda and Garabashi glacier show differences within cryoconites on their surfaces in terms of particle-size distribution. Most of samples have more coarse earth fraction in their texture while alluvium KB2 and cryoconite KB8 are dominated by the fine earth fraction which distinguishes them from other cryoconites from the Baksan Gorge glaciers and may play role in redistribution of carbon and nitrogen in glacial ecosystems. This happens because that KB2 sample is cryoconite-derived alluvium which was affected by transformation processes while KB8 probably has different source of material and high weathering degree. Uetaki et al. (2016) pointed that development of specific microbial communities in cryoconites influence grain size which is likely to happen in KB8 sample due to defined high basal respiration values. Local soils have smaller grain diameter within one fraction than supraglacial sediments which is caused by vegetation cover, relatively diverse microbiology and mechanical destruction which influence the rate of weathering and, thus, the grain size. Vegetation strongly affects weathering processes in high-altitudinal regions which is expressed by producing of specific organic ligands (Egli et al., 2008). Microbial communities play role as well by producing helating ligands, specific organic acids and changing basic physicochemical properties such as pH (Castaldini et al., 2002). Also microbiological activity strongly depends on the precipitation and temperature regime, that is why biological weathering considerably increase with decreasing altitude (Riebe et al., 2004).

However, in general Leptosols and Umbisols are similar to studied cryoconites indicating the connection between supraglacial sediments and local soils, and pointing to the role which sediments play in formation of mountainous soils. Similar situation is observed in the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge where sand is dominating among all samples which is typical for soils with slow development and low degree of weathering in harsh environmental conditions. Chernozems are located in another study site and under other factors which lead to dominace of silt and high content of clay. Previous research of cryoconite particle-size distribution in Spitsbergen (Kastovska et al., 2005) indicated dominance of fine earth which was higher than 50% with prevalence of silt while in this study ratio is different. Earlier it was found that variations in particle-size distribution are caused by differences in geographical position and source of material (Abakumov et al., 2021). In the Antarctic cryoconite sediments from the Anuchin Glacier, which is surrounded by Gruber Mt., showed the dominance of sand and coarse fraction while cryoconite material from the Mushketov Glacier in the Arctic had the prevalence of silt and fine earth in general. This happens due to the fact that mountains affect aeolian transfer of small particles (silt and clay fractions) and at the same time valley walls around glaciers act as an autochthonous source of large particles (sand and coarse earth fraction). In our case, the Caucasus mountain range, surrounding study sites, has considerable impact on the particle-size distribution of cryoconites and affects the local soils formation. Grain size of studied mountain soils and Chernozems is also influenced by mechanical destruction of particles carried by water streams from the glaciers and mountains which lead to transfer of rocks to soils (Zharinova, 2011). This strongly influence physical and chemical properties as well as micromorphology of this soils, its mineral composition and features (Konistsev and Rogov, 1977; Mazurek et al., 2016).

In terms of micromorphological structure different cryoconites show similarities as well as differences in mineralogical composition and in weathering rate. In general, the most abundant minerals were quartz, mica and feldspar. In another study of mineral composition in the Caucasus region (Zawierucha et al., 2019) quartz and feldspar have been observed in cryoconite materials. Studied sediments have weakly transformed structure indicating recent origin. In another recent study of cryoconites micromorphological structure at the Djankuat Glacier, Central Caucasus, similarly with our research among minerals mainly were defined quartz, mica, feldspar and chloride (Kutuzov et al., 2021). This study also indicated importance of aeolian transfer due to small size of grains while in our case grains mostly were found in large fragments indicating local source of material. Mainly, we can observe physical weathering and low structures of biogenic origin. Pyroclastic material was appeared in the cryoconite texture and as incorporations in minerals such as feldspar due to volcanic eruptions of Elbrus and Kazbek mountains, last of which occured less than 30 thousand years ago (Gurbanov et al., 2004). It was weakly transformed because of cold environmental conditions and weak transformation of rocks. Ferruginization of studied mineral particles is not or weakly expressed which indicates aeration of material and absence of waterlogged conditions because the latter condition cause formation of Fe-Mg particles (Rogov and Konistsev, 2008). Physical and mechanical destruction is the main type of grains transformation which is observed by fractures in minerals and their sharp edges. Presence of clay-plasma fabric was observed also in some previous studies (Switoniak et al., 2016; Maksimova and Abakumov, 2017) indicating mechanical weathering of material. The same processes of transformation were observed in the previous study and they were linked to frequent temperature fluctuations (freezing-thawing process and frost weathering) as well as to input of fresh grains from nearby moraines which are easily affected by mechanical destruction (Zawierucha et al., 2019). However, this study also indicated importance of chemical weathering in destruction of mineral grains and importance of microbes which produce specific substances and due to that decrease exposure to cryogenic factors which leads to reduction of cryodegradation.

Biopedogenic and sedimentation processes, transformation of moraines and cryoconite lead to formation of soil-like bodies which is affected by input of material by aeolian processes and water streams (Glazovskaya, 2005). This is observed in our case by presence of iron in the texture of soil-like bodies. Clay-mineral conglomerates are abundant in this type of material which was established as a result of compression indicating role of mechanical destruction and physical weathering, which is a dominant type of weathering here. Lately formed sedimentary soils, organomineral particles of which in the summer together with mudflows are transported to the downstream areas and adjacent ecosystems (Solomina et al., 1994). Thus, during deglaciation organomineral matter redistribution contributes to the soil formation in mountain regions. Mineralogical composition of studied soils is close to those of cryoconites and comparable with those in Switzerland high-mountain area where quartz and mica considerably contributed in micromorphology (Musso et al., 2022). In mountain ecosystems direct input of matter from supraglacial sediments acts as an additional source of nutrients and pollutants which microorganisms receive from the primary minerals and organic matter (Nagatsuka et al., 2010).

Also, different from the studied cryoconites, in Leptosols and Umbisols biological weathering plays important role. This is observed due to incorporation of organic matter and relatively smooth edges of the grains. The similar importance of biological impact was observed in Lahijan mountains (Ramezanpour and Pourmasoumi, 2012) where clay particles were originating from biological weathering of mica and feldspar at the early stage of pedogenesis. Top horizon (Oe) of Leptosols and Umbisols from the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge includes humic aggregates with intergranular pores due to presence of vegetation cover and ongoing sod processes which leads to input of organic matter and humification of it. Studied soils are similar to supraglacial sediments in terms of micromorphological structure, however, have better transformed material which indicates that downstream transfer of mineral matter have an impact on mineralogical composition of Leptosols and Umbisols. Zazovskaya et al. (2021) found that microstructure of top horizons of mountain soils close to the Aldegond Glacier shows specific cryogenic separation of particles indicating that cryoconites act as a basis for formation of these soils as well as roots of lichens and mosses were defined which play role of "traps" for dust and cryoconites from glaciers, its further accumulation and participation in soil formation. Study in Altai mountains (Egli et al., 2015) points importance of aeolian transport for transfer of supraglacial sediments to local soils and indicates water availability as a decisive factor for rate of minerals weathering. Chernozems samples are highly influenced by local biota, there are incorporations of fresh organic matter and biogenic material, mineral fragments show signs of biological destruction which is typical for developed soils affected by agricultural processes and vegetation cover. These features are typical for Chernozems and were observed, for instance, in study of Golyeva et al. (2018). However, in this study were defined signs of microfauna and absence of minerals while in our case it was the opposite which indicates, probably, influence of agriculture on soil fauna and that transferred minerals from the high-altitudinal areas also play role in mineralogical composition of Chernozems in this study.

Rapid deglaciation leads to increase of cryoconites in size and higher accumulation of pollutants, attracting additional carbon-containing dust (Zheng et al., 2020). PAHs are in this list of pollutants and earlier it was found (Li and Duan., 2015) that pollution of sediments and soils by polyarenes is linked with anthropogenic activities in surrounding territories. This was observed in China sea where concentrations of pollutants were less in its southern part than in northern where lots of industries are located (Li and Duan, 2015). Similar fact was carried out in the Antarctica where in the vicinity of "Saint Kliment Ohridski" polar station concentration of NAP was 170 ng/g

(Abakumov et al., 2021) while in the remote sites these concentrations were lower than 30 ng/g (Aislabie et al., 1999).

Studies of PAHs in cryoconites and mountain soils have been conducted in Himalayas, Tibetan Plateau and European mountains. They showed high variability between samples. In Himalaya mountains concentrations of polyarenes in sediments varied from 14.54 to 437.43 ng/g (Riaz et al., 2019). Tibetan Plateau (Li et al., 2017) showed values from 6.67 ng/g in the part which is situated far away from industries to 3906.66 ng/g close to factories and cities. In studies of local soils in Pyrenees (Quiroz et al., 2010) studied mountain soils were highly polluted with PAHs, with the average concentration of 400 ng/g (Quiroz et al., 2010). Here, HMW PAHs were the dominant group in most of samples which indicates their local origin due to the fact that they are usually deposited close to the area of their origin while LMW PAHs may be transferred by wind streams far away (Tobiszewski and Namieśnik, 2012). It was found that on the Garabashi Glacier concentration of LMW PAHs is comparable with HMW PAHs which from one side may indicate allochthonous input of material due to the fact that this glacier is located on the slope of mountain and is not surrounded by mountain walls which may block atmospheric transport. From the other side, the main LMW PAH here is NAP which usually originates from combustion of gasoline from motor vehicles (Soltani et al., 2015) as a result of nearby touristic activities. Earlier it was found (Pozdnyakova, 2012) that HMW PAHs usually are highly mutagenic and carcinogenic, that is why in our study their concentration is similar to those of carcinogenic PAHs.

Sources of PAHs are different: allochthonous which are transferred from remote regions as well as allochthonous, for instance, from local traffic (Abdel-Shafy, 2016). The Central Caucasus is a popular destination for tourists (Litvinova et al., 2020) which leads to high level of anthropogenic pressure. Garabashi Glacier, where the highest concentrations of polyarenes were defined, is the one of the most visited places with lots of roads even directly to the cable car, close to the glacier, cafes and hotels at the foothill which burn fossil fuels for their needs. The same situation when closeness of road affect pollution of environment by PAHs was observed previously in Tibetan Plateau (Yuan et al., 2016). The main part of fuels for automobiles is NAP (Soltani et al., 2015) which points to the fact that local traffic is the main source of polyarenes. The Skhelda Glacier is located in remote from the main touristic places area of the Baksan Gorge that is why it possible to take them as a background site.

Caucasus mountain range is also affected by allochthonous transfer of polluted material, to the Central Caucasus carbon-containing dust with pollutants is transferred mainly from two regions: Western Asia and Northern Africa (Lokas et al., 2018; Kutuzov et al., 2021). In these regions emissions of polyarenes to the atmosphere are associated with industries and traffic in urbanized agglomerations (Saeedi et al., 2012), petrochemical industries (Abbasi et al., 2019), ship ports and ships traffic (Khairy et al., 2009). Furthermore, in Western Asia emissions of PAHs may be caused during the process of the open biomass burning for agricultural preparation of lands and disposal of crops residues (Ravindra et al., 2008). All these processes act as additional sources of polyarenes for our study sites.

To correctly understand the source of PAHs in studied samples we calculated isomeric ratios and constructed cross-sectional graphs. In general, these bi-plots show that sources are mixed petrogenic and pyrogenic. Let's discuss this more in details. PHE/ANT isomeric ratios shows that main source of polyarenes at the Garabashi Glacier is oil leaks from local cities and roads which may be connected with the same situation in previous research in France and Benin (Soclo et al., 2000) where the pollution by PAHs was associated with oil leaks from petroleum delivery and local industries. Another calculation of BaP/BPE ratio shows the possibility of traffic as a main source of polyarenes on this glacier due to automobile road in the vicinity and this situation is observed in most of all samples. LMW PAHs/HMW PAHs ratios indicate that combustion is a main source of polyarenes in our materials and in Garabashi Glacier it also may be connected with allochthonous input. Similar bi-plots of isomer ratios conducted earlier in China (Li et al., 2017) points that on the Tibetan Plateau the main source of polyarenes in cryoconites were combustion of fossil fuels and biomass as well as local traffic. In soils of Himalaya mountains sources were mixed, local petroleum contamination as well as combustion processes (Devi et al., 2016).

In order to correctly estimate potential toxicity of studied materials, calculation of BaP-equivalents (Benzo[*a*]pyrene equivalent toxicity) has been made because not all of studied PAHs have adopted maximum permissible concentration (MPC), this method is widely used in practice. Our study points are located at the part of Caucasus mountain range on the territory of the Russian Federation but because environmental conditions differ around the world, we chose local adopted standard as a reference (Hygienic Norms, 2006) which is based on the monitoring of 3-4 benzo(a)pyrene.

Concentrations of BaP-equivalents of individual PAHs in our study is lower than MPC (20ng/g) in almost all samples except of one from the Garabashi Glacier. However, if we sum all individual BaP-equivalents, we can observe that concentrations are higher than MPC (up to 45 ng/g) in all study points which may be dangerous for local

environment and population. Concentration of PAHs in BaP-equivalents between cryoconites from the Garabashi Glacier and Chernozems are similar indicating possibility of PAHs transfer and its influence on mountain ecosystems. In the study from Tibetan Plateau (Li et al., 2017) values of BaP-equivalents varied from 1.34 to 14.34 ng/g which is lower than in our study in the exception of one sample (281.32 ng/g).

Due to the fact that global environmental change affects mountain and polar regions more than average, it is important to discuss how polyarenes would react in these circumstances. First of all, soils in cold environments store organic pollutants and rise of temperature and changes in soil organic matter may lead to remobilization of these pollutants in mountains and affect exchange between atmosphere and soils (Wang et al., 2012; Cabrerizo et al., 2013). Moreover, temperature rise will cause longer ablation period of glaciers and, thus, additional solid transfer of pollutants downstream (Kohler and Maselli et al., 2008). Tao et al. (2017) previously found that environmental changes in cold conditions may increase biomagnification of polyarenes in the food web which may pose risks for local wildlife and people. Furthermore, climate change could affect the rate of insolation because of variability in clouds cover which in turn influence PAH's composition through photochemical oxidation which was observed in the research of Quiroz et al. (2010) with the change of BaA and BaP under the influence of additional light input. Some researches (Bergauer et al., 2005; Weiland-Brauer et al., 2017) indicated presence of psychrophilic microorganisms which play role in bioremediation through degradation of PAHs. In situation of environmental changes, we can expect development of these microorganisms or appearance of other communities.

Atmospheric carbon-containing dust can store and transfer various trace elements such as Cu, Zn and Ni which was found in the Arctic (Vinogradova and Kotova, 2019) and in the Antarctic (Polyakov et al., 2020a). Further, this material with glacier retreat contribute to pollution of local lakes and streams as it was found in European mountains (Bogdal et al., 2009; Morselli et al., 2014).

Cryoconites in various places of our planet have been studied in terms of trace elements pollution. Lokas et al. (2016) found that in cryoconites of Svalbard archipelago mean concentrations of Cu (37.62 mg/kg), Pb (54.38 mg/kg), Zn (96.33 mg/kg) and Cd (0.42 mg/kg) were higher than in our study. They also were higher than local natural values which was connected with input of polluted material by its deposition as well as with absorption by microoranisms and production of them specific substances. Another research carried out in Svalbard archipelago (Singh et al., 2017) showed similar or less compared with our content of Pb (up to 36.3 mg/kg), Zn (up to 66.2 mg/kg), Ni (up to

21.2 mg/kg) and Cd (up to 0.14 mg/kg) in cryoconites which indicates importance of local factors and degree of cryoconite formation. This research also defined concentrations of these pollutants in Himalayas and similarly to the PAHs pollution, the highest trace elements values were defined close to industry centers which were much higher than in the Central Caucasus. Study of cryoconites in Alaska (Owens et al., 2019) revealed similar to our research concentrations of Cu (55 mg/kg) and Zn (80 mg/kg), however, lower values of Pb (5 mg/kg) and Cd (0.01 mg/kg) again point to importance of local factors and variability in sources of pollutants.

As it was mentioned before, carbon-containing dust in the Central Caucasus originate in Western Asia and in Northern Africa (Kutuzov et al., 2015a). In the same study it was found that this dust is enriched with Cu, Zn and Cd due to high natural values and active anthropogenic activities in these regions. However, relatively high content of Zn, Cu and Pb have been found in almost all studied samples in our study including valley glaciers surrounding by mountain walls, which is not possible to explain only by longdistant transfer of trace elements, indicates influence of autochthonous polluted material. Tourism is highly developed in the Baksan Gorge as well as in the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge. Transportation of people, construction of new facilities and operating of existing ones' lead to active usage of various fossil fuels which is associated with emissions of trace elements into the atmosphere, mainly Ni and Pb (Shagin et al., 2018) which further contribute to deposition of these pollutants on the surface of the glacier. Furthermore, close to the Elbrus mountain abandoned lead-zink mine is located which mine tailing storage affect pollution status of the local environment (Uraskulov et al., 2018). In some of sampled cryoconites located in the bottom of the glaciers as well as soil-like bodies and moraines concentrations of trace elements were higher which was also observed in the study of Kutuzov et al. (2021) at the Djankuat Glacier due to input of material from local moraines, rock outcrops and soils. Especially high in this study, as well as in our case, was content of Zn which indicated allochthonous input due to the fact that Zn is usually transferred with dust by atmospheric winds.

Transfer of cryoconites may affect pollution level at local soils. In previous study (Magnani et al., 2018) of mountain soils at the Mt. Everest content of trace elements was lower or similar to those in our research (Cu up to 10.4 mg/kg; Zn up to 68.8 mg/kg; Pb up to 16.8 mg/kg; Ni 22.5 mg/kg) with the highest values in the top horizons and increasing with altitude. Calculation of pollution indices of soils in Changbai Mountain (Ma et al., 2019) revealed mostly moderate or low levels of pollution which is similar or lower than in our study. In our case the distribution of pollutants is similar and is

connected mostly with local input of material. Mountain ranges act as a natural barrier regulating long-distant transport of material (Bing et al., 2018) which also indicates autochthonous input of pollutants to the soils, also from cryoconite sediments. In general, mostly pollution by trace elements is higher in Leptosols and Umbisols than in cryoconite which is also connected with additional input of pollutants by water streams and aeolian transfer. Recently it was found (Ermakov et al., 2020) that content of Cu was higher than natural values in the Baksan river and further downstreams it affects local soils. This is also noticeable in our study because the highest values of trace elements have been found in the top horizons and, especially, in the study site at the floodplain indicating transfer of trace elements by the rivers such Baksan and Khulamo-Bezengi. Another possible source of pollutants of Leptosols and Umbisols is vegetation cover. Due to the fact that most of trace elements are not biodegradable they are accumulated in plants and further increase concentration of trace elements in soils (Kumar et al., 2016). In another study in European mountains (Yaneva et al., 2022) it was found that mountain soils act as a buffer against local pollution, which was especially noticeable nearby automobile roads. In our study Leptosols, Umbisols and Chernozems are located near the road which is actively used by tourists and local residents, which essentially affect pollution of these soils.

As it was observed earlier in this study, cryoconites may affect biogeochemical cycles of mountain ecosystems as well as their pollution levels. In the Central Caucasus region reallocation of organomineral matter influence local soils as well as mountain glaciers. After deposition, material may be accumulated on the glacier surface and form so-called "cryoconite network". Composition of this network is highly dependent on the sources of this sediments which in the Central Caucasus is represented by mixed local and long-distant sources, both of them are polluted with trace elements and PAHs (Lokas et al., 2018). Earlier Glazovskaya (2005) studied influence of aeolian dust at the surface of glaciers on the adjacent mountain valleys. Schematic figure of transfer of matter nearby the Bezengi Glacier is presented on Fig. 22.



Fig. 22. Flows of matter between supraglacial and periglacial zones of the Bezengi Glacier (AI – allochthonous input; VWI – input from the valley walls; FT – fluvioglacial transfer; AT – aeolian transfer; FET – transfer of fine earth fraction), according to Glazovskaya (2005), Lokas et al., 2018, Zazovskaya et al., 2022.

It was found that during rapid deglaciation supraglacial sediments are transferred to the periglacial part and foothill territories by organomineral particles and solutions movement. Influence of hydrological regime and runoff energy decrease stability of cryoconites and their lifespan which was observed in previous research (Stibal et al., 2008) and in study of Lokas et al. (2016) in ablation parts of glaciers. Weathering also plays role in transfer of sediments among Caucasus region. In recent study of Zazovskaya et al. (2022) it was mentioned that transfer of organomineral matter is observed not only from glaciers to downstreams soils but also in the other way: from periglacial part, soillike bodies and Leptosols/Umbisols in our study, to supraglacial part by aeolian transfer which indicates additional input of local pollutants to the glacier surface, again it accumulation and further redistribution which also affects development and pollution of mountain soils.

In the Baksan Gorge and in the Khulamo-Bezengi Gorge this redistribution mainly occurs with intensive melting during warm periods. Thus, processes such as fluvioglacial and aeolian transfer play huge role in formation and pollution of periglacial part in the Central Caucasus and local soils.

#### 6. Conclusion

The conducted study shows some physicochemical and micromorphological features of sediments, including cryoconite, and local soils as well as accumulation of trace elements in them and their pollution level. Most of the samples show neutral reaction while in some cases of mountain soils values of exchangeable pH are low due to presence of organic matter. In some studied cryoconites values of TOC and basal respiration are higher than in local Leptosols/Umbisols and Chernozems which indicates that soil development in the periglacial zone may be affected by transfer of easily accessible organic carbon which promotes development of microorganisms. Particle-size distribution indicates dominance of sand fraction in cryoconites as well as in Leptosols and Umbisols while in Chernozems more silt and clay particles were found due to higher rate of soil development. Micromorphological structure of Leptosols and Umbisols is similar to those of cryoconites due to similar parent mterial and direct input of material from sediments which may act as an additional source of elements. In terms of pollution, studied cryoconites vary between the study sites. The most polluted cryoconites are located in cracks and holes due to accumulation of various substances and close to the bottom part due to additional autochthonous input of material from both nearby valley and glacier. Cryoconites from the surface are easily transferred downstreams and affect pollution status of mountain soils. In terms of cryoconite pollution source plays important role, in our case it is mixed. In most of study sites at the Baksan Gorge sum of polyarenes with mixed source are exceed maximum permissible concentration. Among trace elements relatively high concentrations were determined for Zn, Cu, Pb due to long-range transfer of pollutants, local combustion emissions and local abandoned mines. Pollution level of cryoconites and mudflows in some cases is higher than in local soils, up to high level in both cases. Leptosols and Umbisols are influenced by aeolian and water streams transfer of pollutants from the glaciers. This study points to the importance of cryoconite material in rapidly changing as well as vulnerable for these changes mountain ecosystems such as the Central Caucasus. There is a strong need for further researches to estimate influence of supraglacial sediments on the glaciers retreat and biogeochemical cycles of this region.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Evgeny Abakumov for suggesting a theme for this study, organisation of field expedition to the Central Caucasus region and help with arising questions during laboratory experiments and writing of this thesis. I am grateful for Dr. Rustam Tembotov, who accompanied me during the whole expedition and helped a lot with logistics and sampling of materials. I would like to thank my colleague Timur Nizamutdinov for help with laboratory experiments, data processing and his advises for this research. I am also grateful to my colleagues Vyacheslav Polyakov and Alyona Lakhtionova for comments and laboratory analyses. I also thank Dr. Sebastian Zubrzycki for his help during my study at University of Hamburg.

#### References

Abakumov, E. and Popov, A., 2005. Determination of the carbon and nitrogen contents and oxidizability of organic matter and the carbon of carbonates content in one soil sample. Eurasian soil science, 38: 165-172.

Abakumov, E., Nizamutdinov, T., Yaneva, R., and Zhiyanski, M., 2021. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Potentially Toxic Elements in Soils of the Vicinity of the Bulgarian Antarctic Station "St. Kliment Ohridski" (Antarctic Peninsula). Frontiers in Environmental Science, 9: 127.

Abbasi, S., Keshavarzi, B., Moore, F., Shojaei, N., Sorooshian, A., Soltani, N., and Delshab, H., 2019. Geochemistry and environmental effects of potentially toxic elements, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and microplastics in coastal sediments of the Persian Gulf. Environmental Earth Sciences, 78(15): 1-15.

Abdel-Shafy, H. I., and Mansour, M. S., 2016. A review on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: source, environmental impact, effect on human health and remediation. Egyptian journal of petroleum, 25(1): 107-123.

Abdul Hussain, B., Westgate, J., Hayward, S., Shunthirasingham, C., Brown, T., Hung, H., Lei, Y., Wania, F., 2019. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and polychlorinated biphenyls in soils and atmosphere of Western Canadian mountains: The role of source proximity, precipitation, forest cover and mountain cold-trapping. Atmospheric Environment, X, 1: 100004. Abrahim, G. M. S. and Parker, R. J., 2008. Assessment of heavy metal enrichment factors and the degree of contamination in marine sediments from Tamaki Estuary, Auckland, New Zealand. Environmental monitoring and assessment, 136(1): 227-238.

Adhikary, S., Nakawo, M., Seko, K., Shakya, B., 2000. Dust influence on the melting process of glacier ice: experimental results from Lirung Glacier, Nepal Himalayas. IAHS PUBLICATION, 264: 43-52.

Aislabie, J., Balks, M., Astori, N., Stevenson, G. and Symons, R., 1999. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in fuel-oil contaminated soils, Antarctica. Chemosphere, 39(13): 2201-2207.

Aleynikova, A. M, 2008. Periglacial landscapes of the Mt. Elbrus region as a zone of catastrophic debris flow formation. Selevye potoki: katastrofy, risk, prognoz, zashchita: 33–36. (in Russian)

Anesio, A. M., Hodson, A. J., Fritz, A., Psenner, R. and Sattler, B., 2009. High microbial activity on glaciers: importance to the global carbon cycle. Global Change Biology, 15: 955-960.

Baccolo, G., Di Mauro, B., Massabò, D., Clemenza, M., Nastasi, M., Delmonte, B., Prata M., Prati P., Previtali E., and Maggi, V., 2017. Cryoconite as a temporary sink for anthropogenic species stored in glaciers. Scientific reports, 7(1): 1-11.

Bagshaw, E. A., Tranter, M., Fountain, A. G., Welch, K., Basagic, H. J., and Lyons, W. B., 2013. Do cryoconite holes have the potential to be significant sources of C, N, and P to downstream depauperate ecosystems of Taylor Valley, Antarctica? Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 45(4): 440-454.

Balmer, J. E., Hung, H., Yu, Y., Letcher, R. J. and Muir, D. C., 2019. Sources and environmental fate of pyrogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the Arctic. Emerging Contaminants, 5: 128-142.

Bergauer, P., Fonteyne, P. A., Nolard, N., Schinner, F. and Margesin, R., 2005. Biodegradation of phenol and phenol-related compounds by psychrophilic and coldtolerant alpine yeasts. Chemosphere, 59(7): 909-918.

Bing, H., Zhou, J., Wu, Y., Luo, X., Xiang, Z., Sun, H., Wang J. and Zhu, H., 2018. Barrier effects of remote high mountain on atmospheric metal transport in the eastern Tibetan Plateau. Science of the Total Environment, 628: 687-696.

Blaser, P., Zimmermann, S., Luster, J. and Shotyk, W., 2000. Critical examination of trace element enrichments and depletions in soils: As, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Zn in Swiss forest soils. Science of the Total Environment, 249: 257-280.

Bogdal, C., Schmid, P., Zennegg, M., Anselmetti, F. S., Singer, M. and Hungerbühler, K., 2009. Blast from the past: melting glaciers as a relevant source for persistent organic pollutants. Environmental science and technology, 43: 8173-8177.

Bond, T. C., Doherty, S. J., Fahey, D. W., Forster, P. M., Berntsen, T., DeAngelo,
B. J., Flanner, M. G., Ghan, S., Kärcher, B., Koch, D., Kinne, S., Kondo, Y., Quinn, P.
K., Sarofim, M. C., Schultz, M. G., Schulz, M., Venkataraman, C., Zhang, H., Zhang, S.,
Bellouin, N., Guttikunda, S. K., Hopke, P. K., Jacobson, M. Z., Kaiser, J. W., Klimont,
Z., Lohmann, U., Schwarz, J. P., Shindell, D., Storelvmo, T., Warren, S. G. and Zender,
C. S., 2013. Bounding the role of black carbon in the climate system: A scientific assessment. Journal of Geophysical Research, Atmospheres 118 (11): 5380-5552.

Bostrom, C., Gerde, P., Hanberg, A., Jernström, B., Johansson, C., Kyrklund, T., Rannug, A., Törnqvist, M., Victorin, K. and Westerholm, R., 2002. Cancer Risk Assessment, Indicators, and Guidelines for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Ambient Air. Environmental Health Perspectives, 110: 451-489.

Budzinski, H., Jones, I., Bellocq, J., Piérard, C. and Garrigues, P., 1997. Evaluation of sediment contamination by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the Gironde estuary. Marine Chemistry, 58: 85-97.

Bullard, J. E., and Austin, M. J., 2011. Dust generation on a proglacial floodplain, West Greenland. Aeolian Research, 3(1): 43-54.

Bushueva I. S., 2013. Glacier fluctuations in the Central and Western Caucasus According to cartographic, historical and bioindication data for the last 200 years. PhD thesis, abstract, Institute of Geography of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 26 p.

Cabrerizo, A., Dachs, J., Barceló, D. and Jones K. C., 2013. Climatic and biogeochemical controls on the remobilization and reservoirs of persistent organic pollutants in Antarctica. Environmental Science and Technology, 47 (9): 4299-4306.

Castaldini, M., Mirabella, A., Sartori, G., Fabiani, A., Santomassimo, F., and Miclaus, N., 2002. Soil development and microbial community along an altitudinal transect in Trentino mountains. Developments in Soil Science, 28: 217-228.

Chen, D., Liu, W., Liu, X., Westgate, J. and Wania, F., 2008. Cold-Trapping of Persistent Organic Pollutants in the Mountain Soils of Western Sichuan, China. Environmental Science and Technology, 42 (24): 9086-9091.

Cook, J., Edwards, A., Takeuchi, N. and Irvine-Fynn, T., 2016. Cryoconite: the dark biological secret of the cryosphere. Progress in Physical Geography, 40: 66-111.

Degtyareva, T. V., Melnichuk, V. V., Karavaev, Yu. I., 2020. Regularities of formation of mountain-forest soils' microelement composition of Western Caucasus.

Sustainable development of mountain territories, 12, 2 (44): 211-220. (In Russian, English summary)

Devi, N. L., Yadav, I. C., Shihua, Q., Dan, Y., Zhang, G. and Raha, P., 2016. Environmental carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil from Himalayas, India: Implications for spatial distribution, sources apportionment and risk assessment. Chemosphere, 144: 493-502.

Di Mauro, B., Baccolo, G., Garzonio, R., Giardino, C., Massabò, D., Piazzalunga, A., Rossini, M. and Colombo, R., 2017. Impact of impurities and cryoconite on the optical properties of the Morteratsch Glacier (Swiss Alps). The Cryosphere, 11: 2393-2409.

Edwards, N., 1983. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH's) in the Terrestrial Environment—A Review. Journal of Environmental Quality, 12 (4): 427-441.

Edwards, A., Pachebat, J. A., Swain, M., Hegarty, M., Hodson, A. J., Irvine-Fynn, T. D., Rassner, S. M. and Sattler, B., 2013. A metagenomic snapshot of taxonomic and functional diversity in an alpine glacier cryoconite ecosystem. Environmental Research Letters, 8: 035003.

Egli, M., Mirabella, A. and Sartori, G., 2008. The role of climate and vegetation in weathering and clay mineral formation in late Quaternary soils of the Swiss and Italian Alps. Geomorphology, 102(3-4): 307-324.

Egli, M., Lessovaia, S. N., Chistyakov, K., Inozemzev, S., Polekhovsky, Y. and Ganyushkin, D., 2015. Microclimate affects soil chemical and mineralogical properties of cold alpine soils of the Altai Mountains (Russia). Journal of Soils and Sediments, 15(6): 1420-1436.

Ermakov, V., Tyutikov, S., Degtyarev, A., Danilova, V., Gulyaeva, U. and Dogadkin, D., 2020. Formation of Biogeochemical Anomalies in the Baksan River Basin. Geochemistry International, 58 (10): 1097-1109.

Fair, H., Smiley Jr., P. C. and Qiao, L., 2020. Physical, chemical, and biological characteristics of supraglacial pools on a debris-covered glacier in Mt. Gongga, Tibetan Plateau. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 52: 635-649.

Famiyeh, L., Chen, K., Xu, J., Sun, Y., Guo, Q., Wang, C., Lv, J., Tang, Y., Yu, H., Snape, C. and He, J., 2021. A review on analysis methods, source identification, and cancer risk evaluation of atmospheric polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Science of The Total Environment, 789: 147741.

Fang, G., 2004. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons study in Taichung, Taiwan, during 2002-2003. Atmospheric Environment, 38 (21): 3385-3391.

Fernandez, P., van Drooge, B., Arellano, L. and Grimalt, J., 2021. Atmospheric deposition of semivolatile organic pollutants in European high mountains: Sources, settling and chemical degradation. Science of The Total Environment, 784: 147099.

Foreman, C. M., Sattler, B., Mikucki, J. A., Porazinska, D. L. and Priscu, J. C., 2007. Metabolic activity and diversity of cryoconites in the Taylor Valley, Antarctica. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 112.

Gagarina, E. I., 2004. Micromorphological method of soil investigation, St. Petersburg Univ. Publ., Saint Petersburg. 156 pp. (in Russian)

Gall, J. E., Boyd, R. S., and Rajakaruna, N., 2015. Transfer of heavy metals through terrestrial food webs: a review. Environmental monitoring and assessment, 187(4): 1-21.

Gao, P., Xu, M., Liu, Y., da Silva, E., Xiang, P. and Ma, L., 2019. Emerging and legacy PAHs in urban soils of four small cities: Concentrations, distribution, and sources. Science of The Total Environment, 685: 463-470.

Gautam, R., Hsu, N. C., Lau, W. K. M. and Yasunari, T. J., 2013. Satellite observations of desert dust-induced Himalayan snow darkening. Geophysical Research Letters, 40: 988-993.

Gazaev, Kh.-M. M. and Bozieva Zh. Ch., 2020. Comparison of surface air temperature at two meteorological stations in the Kabardino-Balkarian State Mountain Reserve. Ustoychivoye razvitie, 20: 62-66. (In Russian)

Gazaev Kh.-M. M., Agoyeva E. A., Bozieva Zh. Ch. and Ittyev A. B., 2018. Spatial and temporal variations of meteorological and hydrochemical parameters in the Bezengi Gorge. Geologiya, Geographia yi Globalnaya Energia: 166-177. (In Russian)

Gerasimova, M. I., Kovda, I. V., Lebedeva, M. P. and Tursina, T. V., 2011. Micromorphological terms: the state of the art in soil microfabric research. Eurasian Soil Science, 44: 804–817.

Glazovskaya, M., 2005. Subaerial cover dusty loams and soils in the highlands of the Inner Tien Shan. In: Glazovskiy N (Ed.) Diverse geography. Association of Scientific Publications KMK, Moscow: 132-162 pp. (In Russian).

Glukhikh, M. A., 2015. Moisture in the chernozems of the Trans-Urals and how to use it. Moscow-Berlin, Direct-Media, 359 p.

Golyeva, A., Khokhlova, O., Lebedeva, M., Shcherbakov, N., and Shuteleva, I., 2018. Micromorphological and chemical features of soils as evidence of bronze age ancient anthropogenic impact (Late Bronze Age Muradymovo settlement, Ural region, Russia). Geosciences, 8(9): 313. GOST 26213-91, 1993. Soils. Methods for determination of organic matter, 8 p. <u>https://docs.cntd.ru/document/1200023481</u> (Accessed on 15 September 2021)

GOST 17.4.1.02-83, 2008. Nature protection. Soils. Classification of chemicals for pollution control, 4 p. https://docs.cntd.ru/document/1200012797 (Accessed on 23 September 2021).

GOST 12536-2014, 2015. Soils. Methods of laboratory granulometric (grain-size) and microaggregate distribution, 22 p. <u>https://docs.cntd.ru/document/1200023481</u> (Accessed on 11 September 2021).

Gurbanov, A.G., Gazeev, V.M., Bogatikov, O.A., Dokuchaev, A.Y., Naumov, V.B. and Shevchenko A.V., 2004. Elbrus active Volcano and its geological history. Russian Journal of Earth Sciences, 6: 257–277.

Gvozdetsky N. A., 1963. Caucasus. An Essay on Nature. Moscow, Geografgiz, 264 p.

Hodson, A., Anesio, A. M., Tranter, M., Fountain, A., Osborn, M., Priscu, J., Laybourn-Parry, J. and Sattler, B., 2008. Glacial ecosystems. Ecological monographs, 78: 41-67.

Hugonnet, R., McNabb, R., Berthier, E., Menounos, B., Nuth, C., Girod, L. and Kääb, A., 2021. Accelerated global glacier mass loss in the early twenty-first century. Nature, 592(7856): 726-731.

Humbert, A., Schröder, L., Schultz, T., Müller, R., Neckel, N., Helm, V., Zindler, R., Eleftheriadis, K., Salzano, R. and Salvatori, R., 2020. Dark Glacier Surface of Greenland's Largest Floating Tongue Governed by High Local Deposition of Dust. Remote Sensing, 12: 3793.

Hwang, H., Wade, T., and Sericano, J., 2004. Destabilized lysosomes and elimination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and polychlorinated biphenyls in Eastern Oysters (Crassostrea Virginica). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 23 (8).

Hygienic Norms, 2006. Federal Service for Supervision of Consumer Rights Protection and Human Well-Being of the Russian Federation, GN 2.1.7.2041-06.

IARC, 2021. International Agency for Research on Cancer IARC monographs ontheidentificationofcarcinogenichazardstohumans.https://monographs.iarc.who.int/list-of-classifications. Accessed on: 15 November 2021.

IPCC, 2021. Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, In press.

ISO, 1998. 11047:1998 Soil quality — Determination of cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganese, nickel and zinc — Flame and electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometric methods. International Organisation for Standardisation, Geneva, p 18.

Jenkinson, D. S. and Powlson, D. S., 1976. The effects of biocidal treatments on metabolism in soil—V: a method for measuring soil biomass. Soil biology and Biochemistry, 8(3): 209-213.

Jiao, X., Dong, Z., Kang, S., Li, Y., Jiang, C., and Rostami, M., 2021. New insights into heavy metal elements deposition in the snowpacks of mountain glaciers in the eastern Tibetan Plateau. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 207: 111228.

Jung, K. H., Yan, B., Chillrud, S., Perera, F., Whyatt, R., Camann, D., Kinney, P. and Miller, R., 2010. Assessment of Benzo(a)pyrene-equivalent Carcinogenicity and Mutagenicity of Residential Indoor versus Outdoor Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons Exposing Young Children in New York City. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 7 (5): 1889-1900.

Kaigorodova, E. N., Lebedev, V. A., Chernyshev, I. V. and Yakushev, A. I., 2021. Neogene–Quaternary magmatism in Eastern Balkaria (North Caucasus, Russia): evidence from the isotope–geochronological data. In: Doklady Earth Sciences, Pleiades Publishing, Vol. 496, No. 1, pp. 37-44.

Kaspari, S., McKenzie, Skiles, S., Delaney, I., Dixon, D. and Painter, T. H., 2015. Accelerated glacier melt on Snow Dome, Mount Olympus, Washington, USA, due to deposition of black carbon and mineral dust from wildfire. Journal of geophysical research: Atmospheres, 120: 2793-2807.

Kaštovská, K., Elster, J., Stibal, M. and Šantrůčková, H., 2005. Microbial assemblages in soil microbial succession after glacial retreat in Svalbard (High Arctic). Microbial ecology, 50: 396.

Khairy, M., Kolb, M., Mostafa, A., EL-Fiky, A. and Bahadir, M., 2009. Risk assessment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in a Mediterranean semi-enclosed basin affected by human activities (Abu Qir Bay, Egypt). Journal of Hazardous Materials, 170 (1): 389-397.
Khaustov, A. P., Redina, M. M., 2018. Indicator Ratios of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons for Geoenvironmental Studies of Natural and Technogenic Objects. Water Resources, 44 (7): 903-913.

Konistsev, V. and Rogov, V., 1977. Micromorphology of cryogenic soils. Eurasian Soil Science, 2:119-125.

Kumar, D., Singh, D., P., Barman, S.C. and Kumar, N., 2016. Heavy metal and their regulation in plant system: an overview. In: A. Singh, S. Prasad and R. Singh (eds.), Plant Responses to Xenobiotics. Springer Nature Singapore Pte. Ltd, Singapore. pp 19-38.

Kutuzov, S., Mikhalenko, V., Shahgedanova, M., Ginot, P., Kozachek. A., Kuderina, T., Lavrentiev, I. and Popov, G., 2015a. Ways of far-distance dust transport onto Caucasian glaciers and chemical composition of snow on the Western plateau of Elbrus. Ice and Snow, 54: 5-15. (In Russian, English summary)

Kutuzov, S. S., Lavrentiev, I. I., Vasilenko, E. V., Macheret, Y. Y., Petrakov, D. A. and Popov, G. V., 2015b. Estimation of the greater caucasus glaciers volume, using radio-echo sounding data and modelling. Earth's Cryosphere, 19(1): 78-88.

Kutuzov, S., Shahgedanova, M., Krupskaya, V., and Goryachkin, S., 2021. Optical, geochemical and mineralogical characteristics of light-absorbing impurities deposited on Djankuat Glacier in the Caucasus mountains. Water, 13(21): 2993.

Lau, E. V., Gan, S. and Ng, H. K., 2010. Extraction Techniques for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Soils. International Journal of Analytical Chemistry, 2010: 1-9.

Li, Y. and Duan, X., 2015. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments of China Sea. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 22 (20): 15432-15442.

Li, Q., Kang, S., Wang, N., Li, Y., Li, X., Dong, Z. and Chen, P., 2017. Composition and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in cryoconites of the Tibetan Plateau glaciers. Science of the Total Environment, 574: 991-999.

Li, Y., Kang, S., Yan, F., Chen, J., Wang, K., Paudyal, R., Liu J., Qin X. and Sillanpää, M., 2019. Cryoconite on a glacier on the north-eastern Tibetan plateau: lightabsorbing impurities, albedo and enhanced melting. Journal of Glaciology, 65(252): 633-644.

Li, Q., Wang, N., Barbante, C., Kang, S., Callegaro, A., Battistel, D., Argiriadis E., Wang X., Yao P., Pu T., Wu X., Han Y. and Huai, Y., 2019b. Biomass burning source identification through molecular markers in cryoconites over the Tibetan Plateau. Environmental Pollution, 244: 209-217.

Likuku, A. S., Mmolawa, K. B. and Gaboutloeloe, G. K., 2013. Assessment of heavy metal enrichment and degree of contamination around the copper-nickel mine in the Selebi Phikwe Region, Eastern Botswana. Environment and Ecology Research, 1: 15-17.

Litvinova, T., 2020. North Caucasus image inside Russia in the context of tourism cluster development. GeoJournal of Tourism and Geosites, 28 (1): 275-288.

Łokas, E., Bartmiński, P., Wachniew, P., Mietelski, J. W., Kawiak, T. and Środoń, J., 2014. Sources and pathways of artificial radionuclides to soils at a High Arctic site. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 21(21): 12479-12493.

Łokas, E., Zaborska, A., Kolicka, M., Różycki, M. and Zawierucha, K., 2016. Accumulation of atmospheric radionuclides and heavy metals in cryoconite holes on an Arctic glacier. Chemosphere, 160: 162-172.

Łokas, E., Zawierucha, K., Cwanek, A., Szufa, K., Gaca, P., Mietelski, J. W. and Tomankiewicz, E., 2018. The sources of high airborne radioactivity in cryoconite holes from the Caucasus (Georgia). Scientific Reports, 8 (1)

Łokas, E., Zaborska, A., Sobota, I., Gaca, P., Milton, J. A., Kocurek, P. and Cwanek, A., 2019. Airborne radionuclides and heavy metals in high Arctic terrestrial environment as the indicators of sources and transfers of contamination. The Cryosphere, 13(7): 2075-2086.

Ma, Q., Han, L., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Lang, Q., Li, F. and Alu, S., 2019. Environmental risk assessment of metals in the volcanic soil of Changbai Mountain. International journal of environmental research and public health, 16(11): 2047.

MacDonell, S. A., Fitzsimons, S. J. and Mölg, T., 2013. Seasonal sediment fluxes forcing supraglacial melting on the wright lower glacier, mcmurdo dry valleys, antarctica. Hydrological Processes, 27: 3192-3207.

Machender, G., Dhakate, R., Prasanna, L., Govil, P., 2011. Assessment of heavy metal contamination in soils around Balanagar industrial area, Hyderabad, India. Environmental Earth Sciences, 63: 945-953.

Magnani, A., Ajmone-Marsan, F., D'Amico, M., Balestrini, R., Viviano, G., Salerno, F. and Freppaz, M., 2018. Soil properties and trace elements distribution along an altitudinal gradient on the southern slope of Mt. Everest, Nepal. Catena, 162: 61-71.

Maksimova, E. and Abakumov E., 2017. Micromorphological characteristics of sandy forest soils recently impacted by wildfires in Russia. Solid Earth, 8: 553–560.

Mandal, S. K. and Das, N., 2015. Microbial Remediation of High Molecular Weight PAHs from Environment: An Overview. International Journal of ChemTech Research, 8 (8): 36-43.

Mandalakis, M., Tsapakis, M., Tsoga, A. and Stephanou, E. G., 2002. Gasparticle concentrations and distribution of aliphatic hydrocarbons, PAHs, PCBs and PCDD/Fs in the atmosphere of Athens (Greece). Atmospheric Environment 36, (25): 4023-4035.

Marchenko, P., Gedueva, M. and Dzhappuev, D., 2017. Actual and potential susceptibility to mudflow processes in the upper Baksan River. Izvestiya Kabardino-Balkarskogo Nauchnogo Centra RAN, 3: 33–43. (in Russian.)

Mazurek, R., Kowalska, J., Gąsiorek, M. and Setlak, M., 2016. Micromorphological and physico-chemical analyses of cultural layers in the urban soil of a medieval city — A case study from Krakow, Poland. Catena, 141: 73–84.

Morselli, M., Semplice, M., Villa, S. and Di Guardo, A., 2014. Evaluating the temporal variability of concentrations of POPs in a glacier-fed stream food chain using a combined modeling approach. Science of the Total Environment, 493: 571-579.

Moshenko, D. I., Kuzina, A. A. and Kolesnikov, S. I., 2020. Comparative assessment of the black soils sustainability in the Central Caucasus and the Caucasus to pollution with lead, chromium, copper, nickel and oil. Sustainable development of mountain territories, 12 (43): 76-87. (In Russian, English summary)

Muller, G., 1979. Schwermetalle in den sediment des Rheins, Veranderungem Seit 1971. Umschao: 79 (24): 778-783. (In German)

Musilova, M., Tranter, M., Bamber, J. L., Takeuchi, N., Anesio, A., 2016. Experimental evidence that microbial activity lowers the albedo of glaciers. Geochemical Perspectives Letters, 2: 106-116.

Musso, A., Tikhomirov, D., Plötze, M. L., Greinwald, K., Hartmann, A., Geitner, C. and Egli, M., 2022. Soil formation and mass redistribution during the Holocene using meteoric <sup>10</sup>Be, soil chemistry and mineralogy. Geosciences, 12(2): 99.

Nagatsuka, N., Takeuchi, N., Nakano, T., Kokado, E., and Li, Z., 2010. Sr, Nd and Pb stable isotopes of surface dust on Ürümqi glacier No. 1 in western China. Annals of Glaciology, 51(56): 95-105.

Nagatsuka, N., Takeuchi, N., Nakano, T., Shin, K. and Kokado, E., 2014. Geographical variations in Sr and Nd isotopic ratios of cryoconite on Asian glaciers. Environmental Research Letters, 9: b045007. Nordenskjold, A.E., 1875. Cryoconite found 1870, July 19th-25th, on the inland ice, east of Auleitsivik Fjord, Disco Bay, Greenland. Geology Magazine, Decade 2, 2: 157–162.

Owens, P. N., Blake, W. H. and Millward, G. E., 2019. Extreme levels of fallout radionuclides and other contaminants in glacial sediment (cryoconite) and implications for downstream aquatic ecosystems. Scientific reports, 9: 1-9.

Pandey, P. K., Patel, K. S. and Lenicek, J., 1999. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: Need for Assessment of Health Risks in India? Study of an Urban-Industrial Location in India. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 59 (3): 287-319.

PND, 2009. Measurement of Mass Fractions of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Soil, Bottom Sediments, Waste Water Sediments, and Industrial and Domestic Wastes by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. Federal Center for Analysis and Assessment of Technogenic Impact, Moscow, 2009, 23 p.

Pochvy Kabardino-Balkarskoi ASSR i rekomendatsii po ikh ispolzovaniyu, 1984. SevKavNIIGiprozem, Nalchik, Russia. p 201. (In Russian)

Podkolzin, O. A. and Anciferov, O. B., 2007. Background content of heavy metals in soils of Stavropol Krai. Agrohimicheskij vestnik 6: 4-5. (In Russian)

Polyakov, V., Zazovskaya, E. and Abakumov, V., 2019. Molecular composition of humic substances isolated from selected soils and cryconite of the Grønfjorden area. Spitsbergen. Polish Polar Research, 40(2): 105–120.

Polyakov, V., Abakumov, E. and Mavlyudov, B., 2020a. Black Carbon as a Source of Trace Elements and Nutrients in Ice Sheet of King George Island, Antarctica. Geosciences, 10: 465.

Polyakov, V., Abakumov, E. and Tembotov, R., 2020b. Black carbon as a factor in deglaciation in polar and mountain ecosystems: A Review. Tomsk State University Journal of Biology: 6-33.

Poniecka, E. A., Bagshaw, E. A., Sass, H., Segar, A., Webster, G., Williamson, C. and Tranter, M., 2020. Physiological capabilities of cryoconite hole microorganisms. Frontiers in microbiology: 1783.

Porter, P. R., Vatne, G., Ng, F. and Irvine-fynn, T. D., 2010. Ice-marginal sediment delivery to the surface of a high-Arctic glacier: Austre Brøggerbreen, Svalbard. Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography, 92(4): 437-449.

Pozdnyakova, N., 2012. Involvement of the Ligninolytic System of White-Rot and Litter-Decomposing Fungi in the Degradation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Biotechnology Research International, 2012: 1-20. Quiroz, R., Grimalt, J., Fernandez, P., Camarero, L., Catalan, J., Stuchlik, E., Thies, H., and Nickus, U., 2010. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Soils from European High Mountain Areas. Water, Air and Soil Pollution, 215: 655-666.

Radić, V., Bliss, A., Beedlow, A. C., Hock, R., Miles, E. and Cogley, J. G., 2014. Regional and global projections of twenty-first century glacier mass changes in response to climate scenarios from global climate models. Climate Dynamics, 42(1): 37-58.

Rakusa-Suszczewski, S., 2015. Kriokonity I Kriojamy W Przylepie Lodowej Antarktyki Cryoconite Holes And Cryocavernes On Fast Ice In Antarctica. Problemy Klimatologii Polarnej, 25: 119–125.

Ramezanpour, H. and Pourmasoumi, M., 2012. Micromorphological aspects of two forest soils development derived from igneous rocks in Lahijan, Iran. Journal of Mountain Science, 9(5): 646-655.

Ravindra, K., Wauters, E. and Van Grieken, R., 2008. Variation in particulate PAHs levels and their relation with the transboundary movement of the air masses. Science of The Total Environment, 396: 100-110.

Rehman, Z. U., Sardar, K. H. A. N., Shah, M. T., Brusseau, M. L., Khan, S. A. and Mainhagu, J., 2018. Transfer of heavy metals from soils to vegetables and associated human health risks at selected sites in Pakistan. Pedosphere, 28(4): 666-679.

Reimann, C. and de Caritat, P., 2005. Distinguishing between natural and anthropogenic sources for elements in the environment: regional geochemical surveys versus enrichment factors. Science of the Total Environment, 337: 91-107.

Ren, Z., Martyniuk, N., Oleksy, I. A., Swain, A. and Hotaling, S., 2019. Ecological stoichiometry of the mountain cryosphere. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 360.

Rets, E. P., Durmanov, I. N., Kireeva, M. B., Smirnov, A. M. and Popovnin, V. V., 2020. Past 'peak water'in the North Caucasus: Deglaciation drives a reduction in glacial runoff impacting summer river runoff and peak discharges. Climatic Change, 163(4): 2135-2151.

Riaz, R., Ali, U., Li, J., Zhang, G., Alam, K., Sweetman, A. J., Jones, K. and Malik, R. N., 2019. Assessing the level and sources of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in soil and sediments along Jhelum riverine system of lesser Himalayan region of Pakistan. Chemosphere, 216: 640-652.

Ribes, A., Grimalt, J. O., García, C. J. T. and Cuevas, E., 2003. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Mountain Soils of the Subtropical Atlantic. Journal of Environmental Quality, 32 (3): 977-987.

Riebe, C.S., Kirchner, J.W. and Finkel R.C., 2004. Sharp decrease in long-term chemical weathering rates along an altitudinal transect. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 218 (3-4): 421–434.

Rogov, V. and Konistsev, V., 2008. The influence of cryogenesis on clay materials. Cryosphere of Earth, 12(1): 51–59.

Rototaeva, O. V., Nosenko, G. A., Kerimov, A. M., Kutuzov, S. S., Lavrentiev, I. I., Nikitin, S. A., Kerimov, A. A., Tarasova, L. N., 2019. Changes of the mass balance of the Garabashy Glacier, Mount Elbrus, at the turn of 20th and 21st centuries. Ice and Snow, 59 (1): 5-22. (In Russian, English summary)

Rybak, O., Dymova, T., Korneva, I., Kutuzov, S., Lavrentiev, I., Rybak, E. and Toropov, P.: Future surface mass balance of the Elbrus Glacial Complex under climate change, EGU General Assembly 2021, online, 19–30 Apr 2021, EGU21-6422.

Saeedi, M., Li, L. and Salmanzadeh, M., 2012. Heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: Pollution and ecological risk assessment in street dust of Tehran. Journal of Hazardous Materials: 9-17.

Samui, G., Antony, R. and Thamban, M., 2020. Fate of dissolved organic carbon in Antarctic Surface Environments during Summer. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 125(12): e2020JG005958.

Santos, MMd, Brehm, FdA, Filippe, T. C., Reichert, G., Azevedo, J. C. Rd., 2017. PAHs diagnostic ratios for the distinction of petrogenic and pirogenic sources: applicability in the Upper Iguassu Watershed - Parana, Brazil. RBRH 22.

Seredina, V. P. and Spirina, V. Z., 2009. Indicators and methods of assessment of acid-base and cation-exchange properties of soils: a training manual. Tomsk State University, Tomsk, 130 p.

Shagin, S. I, Tatarenko, N. V. and Mashukov, H. V., 2018. Studies of sources of formation of the chemical composition of glaciers and atmospheric aerosols in high-mountain conditions. Nauchnye izvestia, 13: 111-115. (In Russian, English summary)

Shahgedanova, M., Nosenko, G., Kutuzov, S., Rototaeva, O. and Khromova, T., 2014. Deglaciation of the Caucasus Mountains, Russia/Georgia, in the 21st century observed with ASTER satellite imagery and aerial photography. The Cryosphere, 8 (6): 2367-2379.

Shamilishvili, G., Abakumov, E. V., Gabov, D. N. and Alekseev, I. I., 2016. Features of fractional composition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and multielement contamination of soils of urban territories and their hygienic characteristics (on the example of soils of functional zones of Saint-Petersburg). Hygiene and Sanitation, 95 (9): 827-837.

Sharma, R. K. and Agrawal, M., 2005. Biological effects of heavy metals: an overview. Journal of environmental Biology, 26(2): 301-313.

Singh, S. M., Avinash, K., Sharma, P., Mulik, R. U., Upadhyay, A. K. and Ravindra, R., 2017. Elemental variations in glacier cryoconites of Indian Himalaya and Spitsbergen, Arctic. Geoscience Frontiers, 8: 1339-1347.

Smith, H. J., Schmit, A., Foster, R., Littman, S., Kuypers, M. M. and Foreman, C. M., 2016. Biofilms on glacial surfaces: hotspots for biological activity. npj Biofilms and Microbiomes, 2(1): 1-4.

Soclo, H. H., Garrigues, P. and Ewald, M., 2000. Origin of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Coastal Marine Sediments: Case Studies in Cotonou (Benin) and Aquitaine (France) Areas. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 40 (5): 387-396.

Solomina, O. N., Savoskul, O. S., and Cherkinsky, A. E., 1994. Glacier variations, mudflow activity and landscape development in the Aksay Valley (Tian Shan) during the late Holocene. The Holocene, 4(1): 25-31.

Soltani, N., Keshavarzi, B., Moore, F., Tavakol, T., Lahijanzadeh, A. R., Jaafarzadeh, N. and Kermani, M., 2015. Ecological and human health hazards of heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in road dust of Isfahan metropolis, Iran. Science of The Total Environment, 505: 712-723.

Stibal, M., Tranter, M., Benning, L.G. and Řehák J., 2008. Microbial primary production on an Arctic glacier is insignificant in comparison with allochthonous organic carbon input. Environmental microbiology, 10(8): 2172–2178.

Stoops G., 2003. Guidelines for analysis and description of soil and regolith thin section. Published by soil Sci. Soc. Am. Inc. Madison, Wisconsin, USA. 184 pp.

Stoops G. and Eswaran H., 1986. Soil micromorphology. New York, Van Nostrands Reinhold Company, 345 pp.

Stokes, C. R., Gurney, S. D., Shahgedanova, M. and Popovnin, V., 2006. Late-20th-century changes in glacier extent in the Caucasus Mountains, Russia/Georgia. Journal of Glaciology, 52 (176): 99-109.

Stokes, C., Popovnin, V., Aleynikov, A., Gurney, S. and Shahgedanova, M., 2007. Recent glacier retreat in the Caucasus Mountains, Russia, and associated increase in supraglacial debris cover and supra-/proglacial lake development. Annals of Glaciology, 46: 195-203. Sushkova, S., Minkina, T., Deryabkina, I., Mandzhieva, S., Zamulina, I., Bauer, T., Vasilyeva, G., Antonenko, E. and Rajput, V., 2017. Influence of PAH contamination on soil ecological status. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 18 (6): 2368-2378.

Swift, D. A., Cook, S. J., Graham, D., Midgley, N. G., Fallick, A., Storrar, R., Rodrigo., M. T. and Evans, D., 2018. Terminal zone glacial sediment transfer at a temperate overdeepened glacier system. Quaternary Science Reviews, 180: 111-131.

Switoniak, M., Mroczek, P. and Bednarek, R., 2016. Luvisols or Cambisols? Micromorphological study of soil truncation in young morainic landscapes — Case study: Brodnica and Chełmno Lake Regions (North Poland.) Catena, 137: 583–595.

Takeuchi, N., 2002. Optical characteristics of cryoconite (surface dust) on glaciers: the relationship between light absorbency and the property of organic matter contained in the cryoconite. Annals of Glaciology, 34: 409-414.

Takeuchi, N., Kohshima, S., Goto-Azuma, K. and Koerner, R. M., 2001. Biological characteristics of dark colored material (cryoconite) on Canadian Arctic glaciers (Devon and Penny ice caps). Memories of National Institute of Polar Research, 54: 495-505.

Takeuchi, N. and Li, Z., 2008. Characteristics of surface dust on Ürümqi glacier No. 1 in the Tien Shan mountains, China. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 40(4): 744-750.

Takeuchi, N., Nishiyama, H. and Li Z., 2010. Structure and formation process of cryoconite granules on Ürümqi glacier No. 1, Tien Shan, China. Annals of Glaciology, 51(56): 9–14.

Takeuchi, N., Sakaki, R., Uetake, J., Nagatsuka, N., Shimada, R., Niwano, M. and Aoki, T., 2018. Temporal variations of cryoconite holes and cryoconite coverage on the ablation ice surface of Qaanaaq Glacier in northwest Greenland. Annals of Glaciology, 59(77): 21-30.

Tashilova, A. A., Ashabokov, B. A., Kesheva, L. A., Teunova, N. V., 2019. Analysis of climate change in the caucasus region: end of the 20th–beginning of the 21st century. Climate, 7:11.

Tazaki, K., Fyfe, W. S., Izumi, S., Yoshikazu, S., Hiroaki, W., Masatoshi, G., Yasuyuki, M. and Shuji N., 1994. Clay aerosols and Arctic ice algae. Clays and Clay Minerals, 42: 402–408.

Telling, J., Anesio, A. M., Tranter, M., Stibal, M., Hawkings, J., Irvine-Fynn, T., Hodson, A., Butler, C., Yallop, M. and Wadham, J., 2012. Controls on the autochthonous production and respiration of organic matter in cryoconite holes on high Arctic glaciers. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 117: G01017.

Tian, Z., Liu, X., Sun, W., Ashraf, A., Zhang, Y., Jin, X. and He, B., 2020. Characteristics of heavy metal concentrations and risk assessment for giant pandas and their habitat in the Qinling Mountains, China. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 27(2): 1569-1584.

Tielidze, L. G., Nosenko, G. A., Khromova, T. E. and Paul, F., 2022. Strong acceleration of glacier area loss in the Greater Caucasus between 2000 and 2020. The Cryosphere, 16(2): 489-504.

Tobiszewski, M. and Namieśnik, J., 2012. PAH diagnostic ratios for the identification of pollution emission sources. Environmental Pollution, 162: 110-119.

Uetake, J., Tanaka, S., Segawa, T., Takeuchi, N., Nagatsuka, N., Motoyama, H., and Aoki, T., 2016. Microbial community variation in cryoconite granules on Qaanaaq Glacier, NW Greenland. FEMS microbiology ecology, 92(9): fiw127.

Uraskulov, M. R., Bogush, I. A., Cherkashin, V. I., Gazaliev, I. M. and Yusupov, A. R., 2018. Geoekologicheskie problemy zon gornorudnogo technogeneza Severnogo Kavkaza. Arydnye ecosystemi, 24: 62-67. (In Russian)

VanCuren, R. A., and Cahill, T. A., 2002. Asian aerosols in North America: Frequency and concentration of fine dust. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 107(D24): AAC-19.

Vecchiato, M., Gambaro, A., Kehrwald, N., Ginot, P., Kutuzov, S., Mikhalenko, V. and Barbante, C., 2020. The Great Acceleration of fragrances and PAHs archived in an ice core from Elbrus, Caucasus. Scientific Reports, 10 (1).

Vinogradova, A. A. and Kotova E. I., 2019. Assessment of heavy metal fluxes from the atmosphere to the Barents Sea. Trudy Fersmanovskoy nauchnoy sessii GI KNTS RAN 16: 63-67. (In Russian, English Summary)

Voskova, A., Gunya, A., Karavayev, V. and Mar'inskih, D., 2021. Land use and possibilities of regulating anthropogenic loads on the mountain landscapes of the northern macro-slope of the Great Caucasus (On the example of the Karasu River valley). Sustainable Development of Mountain Territories, 13 (1): 16-24.

Wang, Z., Ma, X., Na, G., Lin, Z., Ding, Q. and Yao, Z., 2009. Correlations between physicochemical properties of PAHs and their distribution in soil, moss and reindeer dung at Ny-Ålesund of the Arctic. Environmental Pollution, 157 (11): 3132-3136.

Wang, X., Sheng, J., Gong, P., Xue, Y., Yao, T. and Jones, K. C., 2012. Persistent organic pollutants in the Tibetan surface soil: spatial distribution, air-soil exchange and implications for global cycling. Environmental Pollution, 170: 145-51.

Wang, Z., Liu, S. and Zhang, T., 2019. Characteristics of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in soil horizon from high-altitude mountains in Northeastern China. Chemosphere, 225: 93-103.

Weiland-Bräuer, N., Fischer, M., Schramm, K. and Schmitz, R., 2017. Polychlorinated Biphenyl (PCB)-Degrading Potential of Microbes Present in a Cryoconite of Jamtalferner Glacier. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8.

Wharton Jr, R. A., McKay., C. P., Simmons Jr., G. M., Parker, B. C., 1985. Cryoconite holes on glaciers. BioScience: 499-503.

Wientjes, I. G. M., Van De Wal, R. S. W., Reichart, G. J., Sluijs, A., and Oerlemans, J., 2011. Dust from the dark region in the western ablation zone of the Greenland ice sheet. The Cryosphere, 5: 589–601.

WRB, 2015. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014, update 2015. International soil classification system for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. World Soil Resources Reports No. 106. FAO, Rome.

Yaneva, R., Zhiyanski, M. and Dodev, Y. Bioaccumulation of potentially toxic elements within the soil–plant system in Central Balkan region: analysis of the forest ecosystem capacity to mediate toxic elements. Environ Geochem Health, 44, 563–577 (2022).

Yang, L., Zhang, L., Chen, L., Han, C., Akutagawa, T., Endo, O., Yamauchi, M., Neroda, A., Toriba, A. and Tang, N., 2021. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and nitropolycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in five East Asian cities: Seasonal characteristics, health risks, and yearly variations. Environmental Pollution, 287.

Yuan, G., Wu, M., Sun, Y., Li, J., Li, J. and Wang, G., 2016. One century of air deposition of hydrocarbons recorded in travertine in North Tibetan Plateau, China: Sources and evolution. Science of The Total Environment: 212-217.

Yunker, M. B., Macdonald, R. W., Vingarzan, R., Mitchell, R. H., Goyette, D., Sylvestre, S., 2002. PAHs in the Fraser River basin: a critical appraisal of PAH ratios as indicators of PAH source and composition. Organic Geochemistry, 33 (4): 489-515.

Zaburaeva, K. S., Daukaev, A. A., Alieva, K. A., Shaipova, A. A. and Salamova, M. I., 2021. Formation of agro-industrial clusters in the North Caucasus. In IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, IOP Publishing, Vol. 723, No. 3, p. 032065.

Zahran, MAE-K., El-Amier, Y. A., Elnaggar, A. A., Mohamed, HAE-A., El-Alfy, MAE-H 2015. Assessment and distribution of heavy metals pollutants in Manzala Lake, Egypt. Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection, 3:107.

Zawierucha, K., Baccolo, G., Di Mauro, B., Nawrot, A., Szczuciński, W., Kalińska, E., 2019. Micromorphological features of mineral matter from cryoconite holes on Arctic (Svalbard) and alpine (the Alps, the Caucasus) glaciers. Polar Science, 22: 100482.

Zazovskaya, E. P., Mergelov, N. S., Shishkov, V. A., Dolgikh, A. V., Dobryansky, A. S., Lebedeva, M. P. and Goryachkin, S. V., 2022. Cryoconites as Factors of Soil Development in Conditions of Rapid Retreat of the Aldegonda Glacier, Western Svalbard. Eurasian Soil Science, 55(3): 299-312.

Zhang, W., Zhang, S., Wan, C., Yue, D., Ye, Y. and Wang, X., 2008. Source diagnostics of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban road runoff, dust, rain and canopy throughfall. Environmental Pollution, 153 (3): 594-601.

Zharinova, N., Yu., 2011. Soils of small river floodplains in the Krasnoyarsk forest-steppe. PhD thesis, Siberian Federal University, 162 p.

Zheng, C., Li, Z., Zhou, P., Zhang, X., Zhou, X. and Ma, S., 2020. Physicochemical impacts of dust storms on aerosol and glacier meltwater on the northern margin of the Taklimakan Desert. Frontiers in Earth Science, 8: 527663.

Zhou, R., Yang, R. and Jing, C., 2018. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soils and lichen from the western Tibetan Plateau: Concentration profiles, distribution and its influencing factors. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 152: 151-158.